&U\VWDOOH[,QWHUQDWLRQDO&RUSRUDWLRQ

Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
To the Shareholders of
Crystallex International Corporation
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Crystallex International Corporation as at December
31, 2005 and 2004 and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005 in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis
for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly we express no such opinion.

“Deloitte & Touche LLP”
Independent Registered Chartered Accountants
Toronto, Ontario
March 27, 2006
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&U\VWDOOH[,QWHUQDWLRQDO&RUSRUDWLRQ
Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31
(Expressed in United States dollars)
2005

2004

ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)
Accounts receivable
Production inventories (Note 5)
Prepaid expenses and other
RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Note 4)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Note 6)
DEFERRED FINANCING FEES (Note 7)
TOTAL ASSETS

$

$

4,070,019
9,241,851
1,395,394
2,566,821
2,787,495
20,061,580
12,081,312
215,260,043
3,237,263
250,640,198

$

5,766,742
30,277,280
2,500,000
529,907
1,784,788
2,785,264

43,643,981
95,505,636
117,329,337
3,639,702
$ 260,118,656

LIABILITIES
CURRENT
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of debt (Note 8)
Current portion of commodity contract obligations (Note 9)
Current portion of asset retirement obligations (Note 10)

$

DEBT (Note 8)
COMMODITY CONTRACT OBLIGATIONS (Note 9)
ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS (Note 10)

20,145,034
2,442,350
126,092

$

6,595,329
4,400,000
16,724,215
-

22,713,476
94,495,582
1,394,646

27,719,544
80,687,719
5,855,897
2,301,181

118,603,704

116,564,341

336,491,624
32,489,216
2,564,366
11,958,981
(251,467,693)

306,031,783
31,824,328
11,958,981
(206,260,777)

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Notes 1 & 18)
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
SHARE CAPITAL (Note 11)
CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (Note 11)
EQUITY COMPONENT OF EXCHANGEABLE BANK LOAN (Note 8)
CUMULATIVE TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT
DEFICIT
$

132,036,494
250,640,198

143,554,315
$ 260,118,656

(Signed) "Todd Bruce", Director
(Signed) "Johan van't Hof", Director
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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&U\VWDOOH[,QWHUQDWLRQDO&RUSRUDWLRQ
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years ended December 31
(Expressed in United States dollars)
2005
MINING REVENUE
OPERATING EXPENSES
Operations
Amortization
Depletion

$

OPERATING LOSS

2004

24,989,681

$

2003

20,245,690

$

11,329,407

22,754,642
2,366,312
330,472

18,037,768
1,161,042
4,869,005

11,783,185
1,019,566
2,034,962

25,451,426

24,067,815

14,837,713

(3,822,125)

(3,508,306)

(461,745)

OTHER EXPENSES
Amortization
Interest on debt
General and administrative
Stock based compensation (Note 11)

1,048,296
11,809,087
19,460,501
3,665,894

158,969
548,131
18,223,193
5,296,977

276,722
906,490
16,375,534
-

COMMODITY CONTRACT LOSS (Note 9)

35,983,778
(3,770,835)

24,227,270
(963,717)

17,558,746
(16,475,340)

(40,216,358)

(29,013,112)

(37,542,392)

1,926,425
(1,192,593)
875,610
(6,600,000)

697,638
397,313
(32,003,253)
(493,702)

195,992
(3,528,401)
(17,506,337)
-

LOSS BEFORE OTHER ITEMS
OTHER ITEMS
Interest and other income
Foreign exchange (loss) gain
Write-down of property, plant & equipment (Note 6)
Gain on settlement of debt (Note 8)
Investment in subsidiaries (Note 12)
Loss on sale and write-down of
marketable securities

-

-

(136,276)

(4,990,558)

(31,402,004)

(20,975,022)

(45,206,916)

(60,415,116)

(58,517,414)

LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
BEFORE NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS (Note 17)
NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR
NET LOSS PER SHARE
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

-

$
$
$

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER
OF SHARES OUTSTANDING

111,053

-

(45,206,916)

(60,304,063)

(58,517,414)

(45,206,916)

(350,000)
(60,654,063)

(2,969,088)
(61,486,502)

(0.23)
(0.23)
194,729,931

$
$

(0.35)
(0.35)

$

172,234,551

$
$
$

(0.49)
(0.03)
(0.52)
118,309,198

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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&U\VWDOOH[,QWHUQDWLRQDO&RUSRUDWLRQ
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31
(Expressed in United States dollars)
2005
CASH FLOWS FROM CONTINUING
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year - continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash
used in operating activities:
Amortization and depletion
Unrealized foreign exchange gain
Accretion expense on asset retirement obligation
Director's fees
Non controlling interest in loss of subsidiary
Interest accretion on debt
Management and consulting fees
Unrealized commodity contract (gain) loss
Stock based compensation
Extension of warrants
Loss on sale and write-down of marketable securities
Gain on settlement of debt
Investment in subsidiaries
Write-down of mineral properties
Changes in other operating assets and liabilities
(net of effects from purchase of subsidiaries):
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
Increase in production inventories
Increase in prepaid expenses and other
Decrease in due from related parties
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in due to related parties
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in property, plant and equipment
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash and cash equivalents
Decrease (increase) in short-term investments
Sale of marketable securities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of common shares for cash
Debt borrowings
Proceeds from orderly disposition of shares
Debt repayments
Deferred financing fees
Special warrants and warrants

$

(45,206,916)

2004

$

2003

(60,304,063)

$ (58,517,414)

3,399,620
345,460
190,000
2,672,895
(8,265,111)
3,665,894
(875,610)
6,600,000
-

6,189,016
(71,279)
100,000
(111,053)
79,249
(18,127,999)
5,296,977
225,178
493,702
32,003,253

3,331,250
493,576
57,000
1,378,175
13,808,154
136,276
17,506,337

(865,487)
(782,033)
(2,231)
-

330,994
(33,085)
(1,752,719)
-

(1,993,392)
(1,160,650)
(745,147)
68,221

6,409,112
(32,714,407)

(323,269)
(36,005,098)

(710,761)
(190,297)
(26,538,672)

(94,369,873)
76,682,473
30,277,280
12,589,880

(50,900,524)
(98,005,636)
(30,277,280)
(179,183,440)

(9,032,425)
365,912
(8,666,513)

15,892,242
7,673,793
(4,512,500)
(898,657)
272,926
18,427,804
(1,696,723)
-

115,113,111
78,550,000
3,957,285
(1,029,530)
(3,489,122)
193,101,744
(22,086,794)
1,650,000

7,059,199
3,136,089
(1,584,934)
44,765,443
53,375,797
18,170,612
831,476

CASH FLOWS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
CASH FLOWS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(1,696,723)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR
5,766,742
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR
$
4,070,019
Supplemental disclosure with respect to cash flows (Note 15)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

-

$

(20,436,794)
26,203,536
5,766,742

3,595,235

$

22,597,323
3,606,213
26,203,536
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&U\VWDOOH[,QWHUQDWLRQDO&RUSRUDWLRQ
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity
Years ended December 31
(Expressed in United States dollars)
Equity component
Number of

Number of

Common

Special

Shares
Balance at December 31, 2002
Shares issued: Exercise of options
Conversion of warrants

Amount

91,722,278

Warrants

Amount

270,000

127,012,205
332,500

4,803,457

8,185,623

-

-

40,080

57,000

-

-

Directors' fees

2,252,500
-

2,915,183
-

Number of

Contributed

Warrants

Surplus

Deficit

11,678,170
-

3,657,902
-

(4,803,457)

(1,458,924)

-

-

(80,571,880)
-

Cumulative

of Convertible

Translation

Notes/Exchangeable

Adjustment

Debt

(2,894,717)
-

Total
52,600,819

2,482,126
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

332,500
6,726,699
57,000

Settlement of mineral property dispute

229,283

542,766

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

542,766

Settlement of bank loan and bank fees

2,348,184

2,114,811

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,114,811

Financial advisory fees

650,590

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

61,695

109,705

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

109,705

1,281,124

350,000

2,179,579

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,179,579

Finders fee
Legal fees
Conversion of notes
Conversion of special warrants

17,036,967

16,444,612

17,260,455

14,365,200

Special warrants and warrants issued for cash

-

-

Warrants issued for consulting fee

-

-

Warrants issued with convertible notes

-

-

-

-

(17,260,455)

(14,365,200)

27,807,955

23,336,598

-

-

-

-

Warrants issued with promissory notes

-

-

-

-

Warrants expired during the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

44,765,443

900,000

1,027,490

-

-

-

1,027,490

150,000

197,420

450,000

171,157

(2,235,918)

-

-

-

-

-

-

192,104

-

-

-

-

592,177

-

Adjustment for change in policy re stock-based compensation
Shares issued: Public equity offering
Unit offering
Exercise of options
Conversion of warrants

-

-

-

-

135,403,523

171,994,591

28,750,000

81,935,995

-

-

-

6,500,000

20,484,750

-

-

-

12,800,000

11,886,581

-

-

-

-

100,000

-

-

Finders fee

19,232

50,000

-

12,800,000

11,886,581

163,958

468,062

-

-

3,957,285

-

-

Options issued

-

-

14,853,698
-

(61,486,502)

-

78,997,765

-

-

81,935,995

-

-

20,484,750

-

-

-

1,408,888

-

-

-

11,283,478

-

-

-

100,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

468,062

-

-

-

-

-

3,957,285
5,296,977

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Net loss for the year

-

-

-

-

-

Issuance of shares under equity drawn down facility

-

(172,624)

Extension of warrants

-

5,296,977

(2,126,491)

189,836,735
200,000

306,031,783
466,549

-

-

775,000

1,196,957

-

-

-

12,273,236

17,394,493

-

-

-

Exercise of options

192,104

(2,289,529)

(4,908,046)

Warrants expired during the year

Balance at December 31, 2004
Shares issued: Unit offering

-

(2,956,155)
-

1,581,512

-

-

-

-

2,956,155
-

13,573,007

Proceeds from orderly disposition of shares

171,157

14,853,698

40,976

(11,886,581)

-

(592,177)

-

11,958,981
-

1,251,000

(12,800,000)

197,420

-

(61,486,502)

4,908,046

Conversion of special warrants

-

-

(142,650,559)

-

-

-

-

-

25,808,171

-

20,042,772

Directors' fees

Share exchange - El Callao

13,962,486

-

-

-

Change in CTA Balance

(2,482,126)

-

21,428,845

Options issued to non-employees

Balance at December 31, 2003

-

-

13,903,977

Warrants extended during the year
Net loss for the year

-

650,590

225,178
-

13,008,235
450,000

31,824,328
272,926
(143,934)
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(60,654,063)

-

143,554,315

(60,654,063)
(206,260,777)
-

11,958,981
-

225,178

739,475

-

-

-

1,053,023

-

-

-

17,394,493

Acquisition of non-controlling interest

1,467,136

3,000,000

-

-

-

-

-

3,000,000

3,418,500

8,210,355

-

-

-

-

-

5,080,357

65,186

190,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

523

1,487
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Share exchange - El Callao
Exchangeable debt
Options issued to employees

-

Warrants expired during the year

-

-

-

-

Net loss for the year

-

-

-

-

Balance at December 31, 2005

-

208,036,316 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

-

336,491,624

-

$

-

-

-

Conversion of warrants
Directors' fees

-

50,000

(3,418,500)

(3,129,998)

3,665,894

(1,042,008)

-

8,997,727

$

32,489,216

(45,206,916)

1,487
2,564,366

-

-

-

-

-

(251,467,693) $ 11,958,981 $

190,000

2,564,366

2,564,366

3,665,894
(45,206,916)
$

132,036,494
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&U\VWDOOH[,QWHUQDWLRQDO&RUSRUDWLRQ
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(Expressed in United States dollars)
1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND CONTINUATION OF BUSINESS

Crystallex International Corporation (“Crystallex” or the “Company”) is engaged in the
production of gold and related activities including exploration, development, mining and
processing in Venezuela. As reflected in these financial statements, the Company has not
generated sustainable operating capital from its business activities and has relied on debt,
equity and other forms of financing to meet its obligations. Management is of the opinion
that additional financing is available to continue its planned activities in the normal course
upon completion of the permitting process (refer below); however, while the Company has
been successful in the past, there can be no assurance it will be able to raise sufficient
funds in the future.
The Company’s principal asset is the Las Cristinas project, currently under development in
Venezuela. Continued development and the ultimate commencement of commercial
production are dependent upon receipt of the final environmental permit which will allow
management to proceed to put in place financing to fund construction. These financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the
Company will be successful in obtaining the permit and will be able to obtain the necessary
financing to complete the Las Cristinas project through project debt, other forms of public
market debt, or equity financing; thereby fulfilling its commitment under its Mine Operating
Agreement. The Company continues to believe that it will be successful in obtaining the
permit and any other government approvals that are necessary to complete the mine
development and commence commercial production, since it has received official notice
from the Venezuelan Ministry of Basic Industries and Mines (“MIBAM”) advising that MIBAM
has formally approved the technical, economic and financial Feasibility Study for the Las
Cristinas project (Note 19). This approval represents the final external input required by the
Ministry of the Environment and Natural Resources (“MARN”) to complete the permitting
process.
The carrying value of the Las Cristinas assets could be subject to material adjustment in the
event that this permit or any other permits are not received or that financing efforts are not
successful, and, in addition, other adjustments to amounts and classification of assets and
liabilities may be necessary to these consolidated financial statements should such
circumstances impair the Company’s ability, in future, to continue as a going concern as
contemplated under accounting principles generally accepted in Canada.
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies followed by the Company, which have been consistently
applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, are summarized as
follows. These policies are consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States in all material respects except as outlined in Note 21.
Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements of Crystallex are prepared by management in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada.
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&U\VWDOOH[,QWHUQDWLRQDO&RUSRUDWLRQ
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(Expressed in United States dollars)
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its
majority-owned subsidiaries, all of which are controlled through the ownership of a majority
voting interest. All inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated.
Translation of foreign currency subsidiaries and foreign currency balances
The accounts of subsidiaries, all of which are considered to be integrated foreign
operations, are translated from the local currency into U.S. dollars using the temporal
method. Under this method, monetary assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars
at the year end exchange rates, and non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated into
U.S. dollars using historical rates of exchange. Revenues and expenses are translated into
U.S. dollars at average rates for the year. Exchange gains and losses on translation are
included in income.
The Company translates monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign
currencies at the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date and non-monetary
assets and liabilities at historical exchange rates. Revenues and expenses are translated at
average rates in the month except for depreciation and amortization, which are translated
using the same rates as the related assets. Foreign exchange gains and losses on
monetary items are recorded on the statement of operations as they occur.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less.
Short-term investments
Short-term investments include highly liquid investments with original maturities greater than
three months and less than one year.
Allowance for doubtful accounts
The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts on a specific account basis.
No allowance for doubtful accounts was recorded by the Company as at December 31,
2005 and December 31, 2004.
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&U\VWDOOH[,QWHUQDWLRQDO&RUSRUDWLRQ
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(Expressed in United States dollars)
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization.
Amortization of plant and equipment used directly in the mining and production of gold is
included in operating costs. Amortization is being provided for using the straight-line
method over the following periods, not to exceed the estimated life of mine:
Buildings
Field vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Mill and plant
Mining equipment

5
5
5
20
10

years
years
years
years
years

Mineral properties and deferred exploration and development expenditures
Mineral exploration costs such as topographical, geochemical and geophysical studies are
capitalized and carried at cost until the properties to which they relate are placed into
production, sold or where management has determined there to be a permanent impairment
in value. Development costs incurred to access ore bodies identified in the current mining
plan are expensed as incurred after production has commenced. Development costs
necessary to extend a mine beyond those areas identified in the current mining plan and
which are incurred to access additional reserves are deferred until the incremental reserves
are mined. Mineral properties and development costs, including the mineral acquisition and
direct mineral exploration costs relating to the current mining plan, are depleted and
amortized using the unit-of-production method over the estimated life of the ore body based
on proven and probable reserves.
Asset retirement obligations
The Company records a liability for its long-term asset retirement obligations, equal to the
fair value of the obligation for asset retirement, and records a corresponding increase to the
carrying amount of the related asset. The asset is amortizated and charged to amortization
expense over the life of the associated asset. The obligation is accreted over the period of
expected cash flows with a corresponding charge to operating income. The fair value of
the obligation for asset retirement is re-assessed annually.
Impairment of long lived assets
The Company reviews and evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amounts of all its
producing properties and related plant and equipment annually or when events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Estimated
future net cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, are calculated using estimated recoverable
ounces of gold (considering current proven and probable mineral reserves and the value
beyond proven and probable which includes those mineral resources expected to be
converted into mineral reserves), estimated future commodity price realization (considering
historical and current prices, price trends and related factors) and operating costs, future
capital expenditures, project financing costs, reclamation costs and income taxes. The
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&U\VWDOOH[,QWHUQDWLRQDO&RUSRUDWLRQ
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(Expressed in United States dollars)
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of long lived assets (continued)
amount of the impairment loss is determined as the excess of the carrying value of the
asset over its fair value, which is measured using the discounted cash flows.
Non-producing mineral properties are evaluated for impairment based on management’s
intentions and are written down when the long-term expectation is that the net carrying
amount will not be recovered.
Production inventories
Gold in doré, gold in process and stockpiled ore are stated at the lower of average
production cost which includes all direct and indirect costs, including amortization of
equipment and facilities, and net realizable value.
Consumables and spare parts inventory are valued at the lower of average and
replacement cost.
Income taxes
The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes whereby future
income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences of temporary differences by applying
statutory tax rates applicable to future years to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts and the tax basis of certain assets and liabilities. The Company provides
a valuation allowance against the recorded future income tax asset when it appears more
likely than not that some or all of the future income tax assets will not be realized.
Revenue recognition
Revenue from mining operations is recognized upon shipment of gold, when title has
passed to the customer and collection of the sale is reasonably assured.
Deferred financing fees
Costs related to the Company’s debt financings are deferred and amortized over the term of
the related financing.
Loss per share
Loss per share is calculated using the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the year plus outstanding warrants that are unconditionally convertible
into common shares. Diluted per share amounts are calculated using the treasury stock
method. In 2005 the potential effect of the outstanding convertible notes, stock options and
warrants were anti-dilutive.
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&U\VWDOOH[,QWHUQDWLRQDO&RUSRUDWLRQ
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(Expressed in United States dollars)
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Commodity derivative contracts
The Company has in the past entered into commodity derivative contracts, principally fixed
forward contracts and written call options, to economically hedge exposure to fluctuations in
the market price of gold. These instruments are not designated as hedges for accounting
purposes and are carried on the balance sheets, under the caption commodity contract
obligations, at estimated current fair market value.
Premiums received at the inception of written call options are initially recognized on the
balance sheet as a liability. Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the commodity contract obligations and realized gains/losses on the commodity
contract obligations, are recognized in the Statement of Operations in the period of the
change or settlement as a commodity contract gain (loss).

Stock-based compensation plan
The Company has stock-based compensation plans which are described in Note 11. The
Company accounts for stock options using the fair value method, whereby compensation
expense for stock options, granted since January 1, 2002, is measured at the fair value at
the grant date using the Black-Scholes valuation model and is recognized over the vesting
period of the options granted.
Measurement uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in Canada requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Significant estimates used
include those relating to the timing and receipt of the Permit to Impact Natural Resources
(the “permit”), to gold prices, recoverable proven and probable reserves, available
resources, fair values of commodity derivative contracts (principally fixed forward contracts
and written call options), available operating capital, income taxes and required asset
retirement obligations. These estimates each affect management’s evaluation of asset
impairment and the recorded balances of inventories, site closure and asset retirement
obligations. It is reasonably possible that actual results could differ in the near term from
those and other estimates used in preparing these financial statements and such
differences could be material.
Fair value of financial instruments
The balance sheet carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments,
accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due
to their short-term nature. The fair value of debt is disclosed in Note 8.
Fair values of certain financial instruments, including fixed forward contracts and written call
options are determined based on estimates using net present value, Black-Scholes and
other valuation techniques. The estimates are significantly affected by the assumptions
used including current market and contractual prices of the underlying instruments, as well
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
as time value, and by yield curve and volatility factors underlying the positions. The
estimated fair values attributed to these contracts are carried on the balance sheet under
the caption commodity contract obligations. As at December 31, 2005 the Company no
longer had any obligations outstanding under fixed forward contracts and written call
options.
3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Variable Interest Entities
Effective January 1, 2005, the Company adopted the new accounting standard issued by
the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants to account for variable interest entities
(“VIE’s”). This new standard recognizes that a controlling financial interest in an entity may
exist through arrangements that do not involve a voting interest. Such entities are
considered to be variable interest entities and can arise from a variety of legal structures.
By definition, these entities either: lack enough equity investment at risk to permit the entity
to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties;
have equity owners who are unable to make decisions about the entity; or, have equity
owners that do not have the obligation to absorb the entity’s expected losses or the right to
receive the entity’s expected residual returns. The primary beneficiary of a VIE is
determined by identifying the party that will absorb the majority of the VIE’s expected
losses, receive a majority of the expected returns, or both. The primary beneficiary is
required to consolidate the entity in their consolidated financial statements. Implementation
of this standard has had no impact on the Company.
4.

RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at December 31, 2005 the Company had $21,323,163 of restricted cash and cash
equivalents (December 31, 2004 - $98,005,636). This balance is comprised principally of
treasury bills with original maturities of three months or less. These funds are being held in
escrow under terms of an Escrow Agreement whereby funds are restricted for use towards
approved capital budget expenditures and interest expense on Notes payable (Note 8).
The current portion relates to the cash commitments necessary to meet interest payments
on the Notes payable due within the next 12 months.
5.

PRODUCTION INVENTORIES

2005
Gold in doré
Gold in process
Stockpiled ore
Consumables and spare parts

$

406,435
732,074
28,484
1,399,828
$ 2,566,821

2004
$

265,972
409,986
4,421
1,104,409
$ 1,784,788
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6.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The components of property, plant and equipment at December 31, are as follows:

Cost, Net
of
Write-down
Plant and equipment
Mineral properties
Deferred exploration and
development expenditures

Plant and equipment
Mineral properties
Deferred exploration and
development expenditures

$

2005
Accumulated
Amortization
and
Depletion

Net Book
Value

99,939,283
130,177,569

$ 7,783,659
7,877,218

$

3,658,007
$ 233,774,859

2,853,939
$ 18,514,816

804,068
$ 215,260,043

Cost, Net
of
W rite-down

2004
Accumulated
Amortization
and
Depletion

Net Book
Value

26,627,278
103,630,076

$ 5,642,790
7,653,154

$

2,459,187
$ 132,716,541

2,091,260
$ 15,387,204

367,927
$ 117,329,337

$

92,155,624
122,300,351

20,984,488
95,976,922
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6.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The net book values of property, plant and equipment by location are as follows:
2005

Las Cristinas
Tomi Concession
Revemin mill
Corporate
Total

Plant and
Equipment
$
90,930,549
957,455
267,620
$
92,155,624

Deferred
exploration and
development
Mineral
properties
Total
expenditures
$ 213,201,542
$ 122,270,993 $
29,358
804,068
833,426
957,455
267,620
804,068 $ 215,260,043
$ 122,300,351 $

2004

Las Cristinas
Tomi Concession
Revemin mill
Corporate
Total

$

$

Plant and
Equipment
17,728,275
3,041,238
214,975
20,984,488

Deferred
exploration and
development
Mineral
properties
Total
expenditures
$ 113,451,761
$ 95,723,486 $
253,436
367,927
621,363
3,041,238
214,975
367,927 $ 117,329,337
$ 95,976,922 $

Deferred exploration and development expenditures are not re-classified as costs of mineral
properties once production has commenced.
The Company reviews annually the carrying amounts of all of its producing and nonproducing properties and their related plant and equipment. Write downs to the estimated
fair market value amounting to $ Nil (2004 - $32,003,253; 2003 - $17,506,337) were
included within the Statements of Operations.
Property, plant and equipment summarized by property is as follows:
Las Cristinas

On September 17, 2002, the Company entered into a non-assignable mining agreement
(the “Agreement”) with the Corporación Venezolana de Guayana (“CVG”), acting under the
authority of the Ministry of Energy and Mines of Venezuela (“MEM”), pursuant to
Venezuelan mining law, under which the Company has been granted the exclusive right to
explore, develop and exploit the Las Cristinas 4, 5, 6 and 7 properties including the
processing of gold for its subsequent commercialization and sale (Note 18). As a result of
entering into the Agreement, the Company has discontinued previous legal proceedings to
confirm its title rights to the Las Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions.
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6.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The aggregate cost incurred by the Company to December 31, 2005 to obtain the right to
exploit the area is $213,201,542, represented by $196,277,396 of payments in cash and
$16,924,146 made through the issuance of common shares of the Company. Costs are
comprised of property payment and finders’ fees of $36,170,393 ($24,978,317 cash; and
$11,192,076 through shares) and professional fees and related expenses of $177,031,149
($171,299,079 cash; and $5,732,070 through shares). Share issuances are valued at the
prior 5 day weighted average trading price for the common shares on the American Stock
Exchange. The preceding amounts include payments to related parties of $ Nil during the
year ended December 31, 2005 ( 2004 – $ Nil; 2003 - $3,014,401) and travel and
administrative costs of $370,579 during the year ended December 31, 2005 (2004 $634,679; 2003 – $323,934).
Bolivar Goldfields Properties

The Company owns all of the outstanding share capital of Bolivar Goldfields A.V.V. This
ownership includes the Tomi concession, Revemin mill and related exploration lands in
Venezuela.
Albino 1 Concession

The Company, through its subsidiaries, owns a 100% interest in the Albino 1 concession in
Bolivar State, Venezuela. On February 25, 2005, the MEM notified the Company that it had
terminated the Company’s Albino concession rights. The Company has appealed this
decision; however, due to the uncertainty of the outcome of this appeal the Company wrote
down the carrying value of its investment in the Albino concession to $ Nil as at December
31, 2004.
7.

DEFERRED FINANCING FEES

Deferred financing fees of $3,237,263, net of accumulated amortization of $617,908
(December 31, 2004 - $3,639,702, net of accumulated amortization of $275,026), relate to
costs incurred in the issuance of unit offerings and debt borrowings.
8.

DEBT

2005
Bank loan
Exchangeable promissory notes
Notes payable
Less: Current portion of debt

$ 12,840,234
3,600,000
80,497,698

2004
$

6,458,470
78,629,249

96,937,932
(2,442,350)

85,087,719
(4,400,000)

$ 94,495,582

$ 80,687,719
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8.

DEBT (continued)

Bank loan
On December 23, 2005 the Company and its subsidiaries restructured their outstanding
obligations to Standard Bank Plc (“SB”) to close out all outstanding gold forward sales and
call option transactions and to amend its existing credit agreement.
Pursuant to the restructuring, (1) the gold forward sales and call options transactions were
closed out and the resulting liability of approximately $14,315,000 was converted into a fully
drawn term loan facility, which will be amortized over the next three years and will mature
on December 31, 2008 and (2) the payment obligation due in January 2006 was
restructured and coordinated with the payment terms of the new term loan facility. The
Company’s guarantee will continue to apply to its subsidiaries’ obligations under the new
term loan facility and the restructured credit agreement. The obligations under the
restructured credit agreement continue to be secured by charges against certain mining
properties (other than the Las Cristinas Project and the Lo Increible operations) and a
pledge of shares of certain Crystallex subsidiaries.
The principal amounts outstanding under the new term loan facility and the restructured
credit agreement bear interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus 2.5%. The
Company is required to make a single aggregate payment of $150,000 per month on
account of interest and principal under the term loan facility and the restructured credit
agreement. The Company is also required to make additional principal repayments under
the new term loan facility and the restructured credit agreement in certain circumstances,
including the issuance of equity or convertible or exchangeable debt securities other than
issuances pursuant to existing credit arrangements.
Of the principal amount outstanding under the new term loan facility, $7,500,000 is
exchangeable at the option of SB for Crystallex common shares at a price per common
share equal to the lesser of the average market price of Crystallex common shares on the
Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) for the five trading days preceding December 23, 2005
and the average market price of Crystallex common shares on the TSX for the five trading
days preceding the exchange date. The exchange price per common share may not be
less than C$2.00. Crystallex may require SB to exercise its exchange right if the average
market price of Crystallex common shares on the TSX for any five trading days after April
24, 2006 exceeds C$4.40. If SB does not exercise all of its exchange rights in these
circumstances, the remainder of the exchangeable portion of the debt under the new term
loan facility becomes non-exchangeable. The exchangeable portion of the debt under the
new term loan facility ranks subordinate by its terms to the senior unsecured notes of the
Company due December 2011.
Of the $7,500,000 exchangeable portion of the debt, $4,935,634 and $2,564,366
respectively, was allocated between the liability and equity components of the debt. The
liability component represents the present value of the exchangeable portion discounted
using the interest rate that would have been applicable to the non-exchangeable debt. The
equity component represents the present value of the interest payments which the
Company could settle through the issuance of shares or by cash, discounted at the same
rate as the liability component (the interest component) and the right of SB to convert the
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8.

DEBT (continued)

Bank loan (continued)
principal of the debt into common shares, determined as the residual amount at the date of
the new term loan facility.
As a result of restructuring the $2,053,000 principal payment due in January 2006 under the
existing credit agreement with SB, the Company recorded a gain of $875,610.
Exchangeable promissory note
On December 31, 2005 in connection with the acquisition of the non-controlling interest
described in Note 11, the Company, through ECM (Venco) Ltd, (“ECM”), an indirect whollyowned subsidiary, issued to Corporacion Vengroup, S.A. (“Vengroup”) a $3,600,000
exchangeable promissory note of ECM.
The exchangeable promissory note is non-interest bearing and is payable in four equal
semi-annual instalments commencing the earlier of the delivery of a notice or on June 29,
2006. Vengroup may elect to exchange the instalment payments for, and ECM may elect to
satisfy its obligations to make instalment payments by delivery of Crystallex common
shares. The number of Crystallex common shares to be delivered to Vengroup will be
based upon the weighted average trading price of the Crystallex common shares on the
TSX during the five trading days immediately preceding the delivery of an exchange notice
by Vengroup or ECM.
Where the Company satisfies its obligations to make instalment payments on the due date
by delivery of Crystallex common shares, the Company has agreed with Vengroup that
Vengroup will dispose of these shares in an orderly fashion. The Company has agreed to
indemnify Vengroup for any net cumulative loss on the sale of these shares for a six month
period, up to the next instalment payment due date. At December 31, 2005 the Company
had not delivered to Vengroup any common shares under this arrangement.
Notes payable
In conjunction with a Unit offering (Note 11) on December 23, 2004, the Company issued
$100,000,000 principal amount senior unsecured notes (the “Notes”) with a coupon rate of
9.375%, due on December 30, 2011 for net proceeds of $75,015,250, after expenses and
equity allocation. Interest is payable on a semi-annual basis on January 15 and July 15 of
each year, beginning July 15, 2005. The Company may redeem the Notes, in whole or in
part, at any time after December 31, 2008 at a redemption price of between 100% and
102% of the principal amounts of the Notes, depending on the redemption date, plus
accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to the date of the redemption. In
addition, the Company may be required to redeem the Notes for cash under certain
circumstances, such as a change in control in the Company or where the Company ceases
to beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least a majority interest in the Las Cristinas
Project; or the Company may redeem the Notes, in whole but not in part, for cash at its
option under certain circumstances, such as a change in the applicable Canadian
withholding tax legislation.
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8.

DEBT (continued)

Notes payable (continued)
The Notes were derived from a financial instrument that contained both a liability and equity
component. As a result, the equity component was allocated based on the fair value of the
shares issued with the Unit offering, calculated at $21,450,000, with $78,550,000 being the
discounted fair value of the Notes. The discounted fair value of the Notes will be accreted
to the face value of the Notes using the effective interest rate method over its seven year
term, with the resulting charge recorded to interest expense.
Series 2 Notes Payable
In conjunction with a Unit offering on September 14, 2005 (Note 11), the Company issued
C$10,000,000 principal amount of 5% Senior Unsecured Notes (“Series 2 Notes”) due
March 13, 2006 for proceeds of C$9,192,354 (US$7,775,812), net of issue expenses.
Interest is payable on March 13, 2006 or sooner in connection with certain redemption and
change of control events.
The Series 2 Notes were derived from a financial instrument that contained both a liability
and an equity component. As a result, the equity component was allocated based on the fair
value of the 200,000 common shares and 450,000 warrants issued with the Unit offering,
calculated at $466,549 for the common shares and $272,926 for the warrants, with
$7,654,554 being the discounted fair value of the Series 2 Notes. The discounted fair value
of the Series 2 Notes was accreted to the face value of the Series 2 Notes using the
effective rate method, with the resulting charge recorded to interest expense.
The Company used 50% of the net proceeds received from the issuance of common shares
pursuant to its equity drawdown facility to repay its obligations under the Series 2 Notes
(Note 11). As at December 31, 2005 the Company had settled through the issuance of
common shares all outstanding principal and interest obligations under the Series 2 Notes.
Interest accretion
Interest accretion on the Series 2 Notes payable and Notes payable of $2,672,895 was
expensed during the year ended December 31, 2005 (2004 – $79,249 ) as a component of
interest expense.
Principal payments
Principal payments of debt are due as follows:
Exchangeable
Notes
Bank loan
promissory notes
payable
2006
$
642,350 $
1,800,000 $
2007
690,432
1,800,000
2008
14,947,428
2011
100,000,000

Less: discount

16,280,210
(3,439,976)
$ 12,840,234 $

3,600,000
3,600,000

Total
$
2,442,350
2,490,432
14,947,428
100,000,000

100,000,000
119,880,210
(19,502,302)
(22,942,278)
$ 80,497,698 $ 96,937,932
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8.

DEBT (continued)

As at December 31, 2005 the fair value of the Company’s debt was $71,880,208
(2004 - $85,087,719).
9.

COMMODITY CONTRACT OBLIGATIONS

On December 23, 2005 the Company closed out all of its outstanding gold forward sales
and call option obligations as part of a restructuring of its outstanding obligations with SB
(Note 8). As at that date the Company had outstanding obligations of 71,239 ounces at an
average price of approximately $308 per ounce which were closed out at an average price
of approximately $505 per ounce.
For the period ended December 31, 2005, the Company has recorded an unrealized gain of
$8,265,111 (2004 – gain of $18,127,999; 2003 – loss of $13,808,154) in marking its portfolio
of written call options and fixed forward contracts to market. The unrealized gain represents
the reduction in the fair value of the Company’s commodity contract obligations for the
period January 1, 2005 to December 23, 2005. The unrealized gain was offset by a realized
loss of $12,035,946 (2004 - $19,091,716; 2003 - $2,667,186).
The realized loss arose
during that period as the Company settled commodity contact obligations totaling 93,119
ounces at a cash cost of $12,035,946.
10.

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The key assumptions on which the fair value of the asset retirement obligations is based
include the estimated future cash flows, the timing of those cash flows, and the creditadjusted risk-free rate or rates at which the estimated cash flows have been discounted.
The Company used a discount rate of 15% to 25%. As of December 31, 2005,
undiscounted cash outflows approximating $3.78 million are expected to occur over a five
year period.
In view of the uncertainties concerning future asset retirement and progressive reclamation
costs, the ultimate costs to the Company could differ materially from the amounts estimated.
The estimate for the future liability is subject to change based on possible amendments to
applicable laws and legislation, the nature of ongoing operations and technological
innovations. Future changes, if any, due to their nature and unpredictability, could have a
significant impact and would be reflected prospectively, as a change in an accounting
estimate.
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10.

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

The following table explains the change in the asset retirement obligations:

As at December 31
Asset retirement obligations, beginning of year
Liabilities incurred
Liabilities settled
Accretion expense
Revisions in estimated cash flows
Less : Current Portion
Asset retirement obligations, end of year
11.

2005
2,301,181
(30,000)
345,460
(1,095,903)
$ 1,520,738

2004
2,301,181
$ 2,301,181

(126,092)
1,394,646

$ 2,301,181

$

$

$

SHARE CAPITAL

2005
Authorized
Unlimited common shares, without par value
Unlimited Class "A" preference shares, no par value
Unlimited Class "B" preference shares, no par value
Issued
208,036,316 Common Shares (2004 - 189,836,735) $ 336,491,624

2004

$ 306,031,783

Warrants
As at December 31, 2005, Common Share purchase warrants were outstanding enabling
the holders to acquire common shares as follows:

Range of Exercise Price - US$
$1.75 to $2.12
$2.50 to $2.75

Number
of Shares
500,000
8,497,727
8,997,727

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)
1.27
0.69

Stock options
The Company has a stock option plan that provides for the granting of options to executive
officers, directors, employees and service providers of the Company. Under the stock
option plan, the exercise price of each option equals the closing price of the Company’s
stock on the trading day immediately preceding the date of the grant. Stock options granted
to service providers and employees, executive officers, and directors have a life of two, five
and ten years, respectively. Stock options may vest immediately, or over a one year or
three year period.
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SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Stock options (continued)
As at December 31, 2005 stock options were outstanding enabling the holders to acquire
common shares as follows:

Range of
Exercise Price - Cdn. $
$1.00
$1.75
$2.65
$4.00

to
to
to
to

Number
of Shares

$1.50
$2.60
$3.60
$4.65

Outstanding Options
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

1,652,500
4,442,644
3,686,250
1,546,000
11,327,394

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price - Cdn$

1.88
4.94
6.40
5.68

1.24
2.23
3.05
4.25

A summary of the status of the stock option plan as at December 31, and changes during
each year ended on those dates is as follows:
2005

2004
Weighted

2003
Weighted

Average

Weighted

Average

Average

Number

Exercise

Number

Exercise

Number

Exercise

of Shares

Price - Cdn$

of Shares

Price - Cdn$

of Shares

Price - Cdn$

Outstanding,
beginning of year

10,950,250

Granted - Employees

1,407,644

Granted - Non Employees

$

-

2.46

8,966,000

3.28

3,285,250

-

$

-

1.97

6,952,500

3.37

2,248,500

$

2.56

1.76

-

250,000

2.12

Exercised

(775,000)

(1.66)

(1,251,000)

1.44

(270,000)

1.64

Expired

(255,500)

(2.02)

(50,000)

1.50

(215,000)

1.85

Outstanding,
end of year
Weighted average fair
value of options granted
during the year - Cdn $

11,327,394

$

2.63

$

2.75

10,950,250

$

2.46

$

2.23

8,966,000

$

1.97

$

1.92

As at December 31, 2005, there were 139,429 options outstanding, with a weighted
average exercise price of C$3.19 that were not fully vested (2004 – 877,500 options; $3.32
weighted average exercise price).
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Supplemental information for stock-based compensation
Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted, on a retroactive basis without the
restatement of prior periods, the fair value method of accounting for all stock options
granted to employees. The compensation expense recorded in the year ended December
31, 2005 was $3,665,894 (2004 - $5,296,977). The corresponding amount is initially
recorded as contributed surplus subsequently reclassified to share capital when options are
exercised. Any consideration paid by employees on exercise of stock options is credited to
share capital.
The Company determines the fair value of the employee stock options using the BlackScholes option pricing model. In determining the fair value of these employee stock
options, the following assumptions were used:

Risk free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividends

2005

2004

2003

3.61%
3.97 years
105%
-

4.38%
5.98 years
75%
-

4.04%
3.95 years
108%
-

The following table presents the net loss and net loss per share for the years ended
December 31 had the Company recorded stock options as compensation expense on the
date of grant, amortized over the vesting periods of the options.

Net loss
Incremental compensation expense
Pro forma net loss
Pro forma net loss per share

2005

2004

$ (45,206,916)
$ (45,206,916)
$
(0.23)

$ (60,654,063)
$ (60,654,063)
$
(0.35)

2003
$ (61,486,502)
(2,696,968)
$ (64,183,470)
$
(0.54)

Financing Transactions

Fiscal 2005 Activities

On July 29, 2005, the Company filed a preliminary short form base shelf prospectus
with the Ontario Securities Commission and a corresponding registration statement with
the United States Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the
multijurisdictional disclosure system. On August 23, 2005 the preliminary short form
base shelf prospectus and registration statement became effective. This prospectus
enables the Company to offer at its option, over a 25-month period, up to an aggregate
of C$75 million of senior unsecured notes, common shares, warrants and units in one
or more offerings.
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Fiscal 2005 Activities (continued)
On September 14, 2005 the Company established, as covered under the short form
base shelf prospectus, a C$60 million equity draw down facility with a counterparty and
also issued and sold to them for gross proceeds of C$10 million (received on closing),
Units comprising C$10,000,000 principal amount of 5% Series 2 Notes due March 13,
2006, 200,000 common shares, and warrants to acquire 450,000 common shares
exercisable on or before September 13, 2006 at a price of C$3.19 per share. The
securities comprising the Units separated immediately upon issue (Note 8). During the
period October 5, 2005 through to December 16, 2005 the Company issued 12,272,236
common shares for net proceeds of $17.8 million under its equity draw down facility. In
accordance with the terms of the draw down facility a portion of the proceeds were used
to repay the outstanding Series 2 Notes.
On December 30, 2005, the Company acquired the non-controlling shareholder interests in
the holding companies which own or control the interests in certain of Lo Incréible mining
properties located in Bolivar State, Venezuela (including the La Victoria deposit). Under the
terms of the transaction ECM purchased the 49% outstanding interest in Osmin Holdings
Limited (“Osmin”) and the 30% outstanding interest in Tamanaco Holdings Limited
(“Tamanaco”) owned by Vengroup and a related company, for consideration consisting of
$6,600,000 payable as follows:
-

$3,000,000 by the issuance and delivery to Vengroup of 1,467,136 Crystallex
common shares;
$3,600,000 by the issuance and delivery to Vengroup of a $3,600,000
exchangeable promissory note of ECM (Note 8).

In addition, the arbitration proceedings between Crystallex and Vengroup were terminated
and the parties delivered mutual releases with respect to the subject matter of the arbitration
proceedings. As a result of the transaction, the joint venture arrangements between ECM
and Vengroup have been terminated and the Company, through its subsidiaries, now owns
100% of Osmin and Tamanaco. ECM’s obligations under the exchangeable promissory note
are guaranteed by a subsidiary of ECM and secured by a pledge of the shares of ECM’s
Venezuelan subsidiary that directly holds the interest in the Lo Increible properties. As part
of the transaction, Crystallex also entered into a consulting agreement with the principals of
Vengroup pursuant to which Crystallex has agreed to pay aggregate consulting fees of
$600,000. These amounts have been expensed during the year and have been included in
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.
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11.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Financing Transactions (continued)

Fiscal 2004 Activities
On April 5, 2004, the Company completed a C$100 million public equity offering whereby
25,000,000 common shares were issued at C$4.00 per common share. The net proceeds
received by the Company, after considering the underwriters’ fee, amounted to
$71,694,731. On April 28, 2004, the over-allotment option granted to the underwriters in
connection with this public equity offering was fully exercised and an additional 3,750,000
common shares were issued at C$4.00 per common share. The net proceeds received by
the Company, after considering the underwriters’ fee, amounted to $10,475,873. Other
expenditures related to this public equity offering and over-allotment amounted to $234,609.
On December 23, 2004, the Company completed a $100 million offering whereby 100,000
Units of the Company were issued at a price of $1,000 per Unit. Each Unit was comprised
of $1,000 principal amount of senior unsecured notes and 65 common shares of the
Company. The net proceeds received by the Company, after considering the underwriters’
fee of $4,000,000 and other expenditures of $500,000, amounted to $95,500,000. The
equity component of this offering was allocated based on the fair value of the shares issued,
calculated at $21,450,000, with $78,550,000 being the discounted fair value of the notes
(Refer to Note 8).
The net proceeds of the offering (the “Escrowed Funds”) were deposited with CIBC Mellon
Trust Company (the “Escrow Agent”) under the terms of an escrow agreement (the “Escrow
Agreement”) dated December 23, 2004 between the Company and the Escrow Agent. The
Escrowed Funds are divided into two pools: one pool equal to the aggregate amount of the
interest payable on the first three interest payments dates (the “Interest Pool”), and, the
other pool equal to the balance of the Escrowed Funds (the “Project Pool”).
Under the terms of the Escrow Agreement, the Escrow Agent will release an amount equal
to the interest payment from the Interest Pool, when the Company makes each of the first
three interest payments to the Trustee. If the Company completes one or more offerings of
common shares or debt securities convertible into common shares and receives aggregate
net proceeds of $75 million or more, the Escrow Agent will release the balance, if any, of the
Interest Pool to the Company.
Under the terms of the Escrow Agreement, the Escrow Agent will release funds from the
Project Pool to pay Approved Capital Budget Expenditures. Approved Capital Budget
Expenditures are defined in the Escrow Agreement to include capital expenditures that are
specifically contemplated by the feasibility studies or the project control budget relating to
the Las Cristinas Project and are permitted under Venezuelan law as evidenced by an
opinion of Venezuelan counsel to the Company.
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11.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Financing Transactions (continued)

Fiscal 2003 Activities
On March 5, 2003, the Company completed a private placement of 2,562,500 special
warrants at a price of C$1.60 per special warrant for aggregate proceeds of $2.8 million.
Each special warrant entitles the holder, upon exercise and without payment of additional
consideration, to acquire one Common Share and one-half of one common share purchase
warrant of the Company. Each whole purchase warrant is exercisable for one Common
Share until March 5, 2005 at a price of C$2.00 per share. The special warrants were
deemed to have been exercised in accordance with their terms on July 6, 2003.
On March 14, 2003, the Company arranged a $3.0 million debt financing which closed in
three tranches on March 14, 2003 ($1.5 million), May 2, 2003 ($1.0 million) and May 15,
2003 ($0.5 million). Under the terms of the transaction, the Company issued $3.0 million
principal amount of non-interest bearing promissory notes due August 11, 2003, September
29, 2003 and October 12, 2003, respectively, common share purchase warrants exercisable
for 300,000 Common Shares until May 2, 2005 at an exercise price of $1.32 per share and
common share purchase warrants exercisable for 150,000 Common Shares until May 15,
2005 at an exercise price of $1.27 per share. The notes were subsequently exchanged for
convertible notes due August 27, 2005. The convertible notes are non-interest bearing until
the occurrence of an event of default (after which they bear interest at the rate of 4% per
annum) and are convertible at the option of the holder into a specified number of Common
Shares. The Company also issued common share purchase warrants exercisable for
150,000 Common Shares until August 27, 2005 at an exercise price of $3.61 per share as
part of the debt exchange transaction. On October 7, 2003, the convertible notes were
converted into 1,363,574 Common Shares in accordance with their terms.
On May 9, 2003, the Company completed a private placement of 2,400,000 special
warrants at a price of C$1.25 per special warrant for aggregate proceeds of $2.1 million.
Each special warrant entitles the holder, upon exercise and without payment of additional
consideration, to acquire one Common Share and one-half of one common share purchase
warrant of the Company. Each whole purchase warrant is exercisable for one Common
Share until May 9, 2005 at a price of C$1.60 per share. The special warrants were deemed
to have been exercised in accordance with their terms on September 10, 2003.
On June 20, 2003, the Company completed a private placement of 5,500,000 special
warrants at a price of C$1.25 per special warrant for aggregate proceeds of $5.0 million.
Each special warrant entitles the holder, upon exercise and without payment of additional
consideration, to acquire one Common Share and one-half of one common share purchase
warrant of the Company. Each whole purchase warrant is exercisable for one Common
Share until June 20, 2005 at a price of C$1.60 per share. The special warrants were
deemed to have been exercised in accordance with their terms on October 21, 2003.

Page 23 of 45

&U\VWDOOH[,QWHUQDWLRQDO&RUSRUDWLRQ
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(Expressed in United States dollars)
11.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Financing Transactions (continued)

Fiscal 2003 Activities (continued)
On August 29, 2003, the Company completed a private placement of 4,545,455 special
warrants at a price of $2.20 per special warrant for aggregate proceeds of $10.0 million.
Each special warrant entitles the holder, upon exercise and without payment of additional
consideration, to acquire one Common Share per special warrant. The special warrants
were deemed to have been exercised in accordance with their terms on September 16,
2003. As part of the transaction, the Company also issued common share purchase
warrants to acquire 2,272,727 Common Shares. Each whole purchase warrant is
exercisable for one Common Share until September 16, 2006 at a price of $2.75 per share.
On September 8, 2003, the Company issued 12,800,000 special warrants at a price of
U.S.$2.20 per special warrant for aggregate proceeds of $28.2 million. Each special
warrant entitles the holder, upon exercise and without payment of additional consideration,
to acquire one Common Share and one-half of one warrant. Each whole warrant is
exercisable for one Common Share until September 8, 2006 at a price of $2.75 per share.
All of the special warrants were deemed to have been exercised in accordance with their
terms on January 9, 2004.

Loss per common share
The following table outlines the calculation of the basic loss per common share:
2005

2004

2003

Numerator for basic and diluted loss per
common share:
Loss from continuing operations
attributable to common shareholders
Benefit conferred to warrant holders
Loss from continuing operations
attributable to common shareholders

$ (45,206,916)
-

$ (60,304,063)
-

$ (58,517,414)
(592,177)

$ (45,206,916)

$ (60,304,063)

$ (59,109,591)

Denominator for loss per common
share calculation - adjusted weighted
average number of shares outstanding

194,729,931

172,234,551

118,309,198
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11.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Financing Transactions (continued)

Shareholder Rights Plan
Effective March 10, 1997 (the “Record Date”), the Company adopted a shareholder rights
plan (the “Plan”). The rights issued under the Plan will expire at the close of the Company’s
annual meeting in 2007 (the “Expiration Time”), unless earlier redeemed or exchanged by
the Company. The Plan was re-ratified by the shareholders at the Company’s 2003 annual
meeting.
Pursuant to the Plan, the Board of Directors declared a distribution of one right (a “Right”)
for each outstanding Common Share of the Company to shareholders of record at the close
of business on the Record Date and authorized the issuance of one Right for each Common
Share issued after the Record Date and prior to the Separation Time (described below) and
the Expiration Time. The Rights will separate from the Common Shares at the time (the
“Separation Time”) which is the close of business on the eighth trading day (or such later
day as determined by the Board of Directors) after the public announcement of the
acquisition of, or intention to acquire, beneficial ownership of 20% of the Common Shares of
the Company by any person other than in accordance with the terms of the Plan.
In order to constitute a “Permitted Bid”, an offer must be made in compliance with the Plan
and must be made to all shareholders (other than the offeror), must be open for at least 60
days and be accepted by shareholders holding more than 50% of the outstanding voting
shares and, if so accepted, must be extended for a further 10 business day period.
12.

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

In November 2004, Vengroup delivered a notice of arbitration to the Company and ECM.
On December 29, 2005 the Company and ECM reached a settlement with Vengroup. As
part of this settlement ECM acquired the non-controlling shareholder interests in the holding
companies which own or control the mining rights to certain of its Lo Increible mining
properties for consideration of $6.6 million. As part of the transaction to acquire the noncontrolling shareholder interests, the Company also entered into a two-year consulting
agreement for total fees of $600,000 (Note 11). This investment in ECM and its
subsidiaries, was subsequently written down to nil as at December 31, 2005, as the
Company had previously written off its controlling interest in the related underlying mining
assets.
Effective August 19, 2004, the Company acquired, under a plan of arrangement, all of the
outstanding shares of El Callao Mining Corporation (“El Callao”) not previously owned. As a
result of this transaction 0702259 B.C. Ltd., a successor company to El Callao under the
plan of arrangement and a subsequent amalgamation, is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Crystallex. As consideration, shareholders of El Callao (other than Crystallex) received
0.01818 of a Crystallex common share for each of their El Callao shares representing a total
obligation to issue 172,975 Crystallex common shares. The value associated with acquiring
these shares was $493,702. This investment was subsequently written down to $ Nil in
2004. As at December 31, 2005, the Company had issued 164,481 common shares
against this obligation.
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13.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company entered into the following transactions with related parties:
a)

Paid or accrued consulting, underwriting and management fees of $120,960 (2004 $2,843,447; 2003 - $1,596,786) to companies related to directors and an officer of the
Company.

b)

Paid or accrued legal fees of $729,901 (2004 - $1,232,816; 2003- $3,125,471) to a law
firm, a partner of whom was a director of the Company.

The amounts charged to the Company for the services provided have been determined by
negotiation among the parties. These transactions were in the normal course of operations
and were measured at the exchange value which represented the amount of consideration
established and agreed to by the related parties.
14.

INCOME TAXES

The Company did not record a provision or benefit for income taxes for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, due to the recurrence of operating losses and the
uncertainty of future realization of net operating loss carry forwards and foreign exploration
and development expenses.
The provision for income taxes reported differs from the amounts computed by applying the
cumulative Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates to the loss before tax provision
due to the following:
2005

2004

2003

Statutory tax rate
Loss before income tax provision

36.12%
$ (45,206,916)

36.12%
$ (60,654,063)

36.70%
$ (61,486,502)

Expected income taxes recoverable
Difference in foreign tax rates
Reduction in loss carry forwards
Change in valuation allowance
Actual income tax provision

$ (16,328,738)
286,455
6,484,430
9,557,853
$
-

$ (21,908,248)
817,901
21,090,347
$
-

$ (22,565,546)
460,582
22,104,964
$
-
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14.

INCOME TAXES (continued)
The tax effects of temporary differences that would give rise to significant portions of the
future tax assets and future tax liabilities at December 31, are as follows:

2005

2004

Future income taxes (tax effected)
Net operating losses carried forward
Foreign exploration and development expenses
Less: Valuation allowance
Net future income tax asset

$

54,886,695
16,271,997
71,158,692
(71,158,692)
-

$

$ 45,392,015
16,208,824
61,600,839
(61,600,839)
$
-

Utilization of the net operating losses carried forward and the foreign exploration and
development expenses are subject to limitations.
At December 31, 2005 the Company has the following unused tax losses available for tax
purposes:

Year of Expiry
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2014
2015
15.

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Country
Canada
Venezuela
623,763
$
$ 38,230,247
1,195,916
$ 13,512,021
28,923,445
$
27,473,322
$
13,339,833
$
31,694,895
$
-

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS

2005

2004

2003

Cash paid during the year for interest

$ 5,239,726

$ 251,617

$ 702,852

Cash paid during the year for income taxes

$

$

$

-

-

2005

2004

$

808,439
4,958,303

$

5,766,742

Cash and cash equivalents comprises:
Cash
Cash equivalents

$

3,870,573
199,446

Cash and cash equivalents balance

$

4,070,019
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SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS (continued)
Significant non-cash transactions for the year ended December 31, 2005 included:

i)

The Company issued 65,186 common shares, with a value of $190,000, for directors’
fees

ii)

The Company issued 523 common shares with a value of $1,487 in exchange for El
Callao common shares.

iii)

The Company issued 1,467,136 common shares with a value of $3,000,000 in
exchange for non-controlling shareholder interests.

iv)

The Company applied $549,125 of unaccreted interest against share capital upon
issuance of common shares to settle Series 2 Note obligations.

v)

The Company closed out its outstanding commodity contract obligations of
$14,315,000 as part of the restructuring of its outstanding obligations with Standard
Bank.

vi)

Under the terms of its equity drawdown facility, the Company settled in full its Series 2
Note obligation of $8,459,000 with the proceeds from the issuance of 5,874,858
common shares.

vii) The Company accrued $6,290,426 of equipment and design costs associated with Las
Cristinas.
Significant non-cash transactions for the year ended December 31, 2004 included:
i)

The Company issued 40,976 common shares, with a value of $100,000, for directors’
fees.

ii)

The Company issued 19,232 common shares, with a value of $50,000, for a finders
fee.

iii)

The Company issued 12,800,000 common shares, with a value of $11,886,581, on
conversion of special warrants.

iv)

The Company issued 163,958 common shares, with a value of $468,062, in exchange
for El Callao common shares.

Significant non-cash transactions for the year ended December 31, 2003 included:
i)

The Company issued 40,080 common shares, with a value of $57,000, for directors’
fees.

ii)

The Company issued 229,283 common shares, with a value of $542,766, for the El
Callao mineral property dispute settlement.
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15.

16.

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS (continued)
iii)

The Company issued 350,000 common shares, with a value of $650,590, for financial
advisory fees.

iv)

The Company issued 61,695 common shares, with a value of $109,705, for a finders
fee.

v)

The Company issued 2,348,184 common shares, with a value of $2,114,811, for loan
payments and bank fees.

vi)

The Company issued 1,281,124 common shares, with a value of $2,179,579, for legal
fees.

vii)

The Company issued 17,036,967 common shares upon conversion of convertible and
promissory notes and accrued interest in the amount of $16,444,612.

viii)

The Company issued 17,260,455 common shares upon conversion of special
warrants with a value of $14,365,200.

ix)

The Company applied $1,424,439 of deferred financing fees against share capital
upon conversion of the above loan and notes to common shares.

SEGMENTED INFORMATION
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate
financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision
maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
performance. All of the Company’s operations are within the mining sector. Due to
geographic and political diversity, the Company’s mining operations are decentralized,
whereby mine general managers are responsible for business results and regional
corporate offices provide support to the mines in addressing local and regional issues. The
Company’s operations are therefore segmented on a district basis. The Company’s only
product is gold, produced from mines located in Venezuela.
The segments’ accounting policies are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies except that other expenses, the non-hedge derivative
gain/loss and other items are not allocated to the individual operating segments when
determining profit or loss, but rather are attributed to the corporate office.
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16. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued)
Tomi/
Revemin

Corporate
2005
Mining revenue
Mining revenue - intersegment
Operating costs
Operating costs - intersegment
Interest and other income
Interest expense
Depletion and amortization
Segment (loss)
Segment assets
Capital expenditures
2004
Mining revenue
Mining revenue - intersegment
Operating costs
Operating costs - intersegment
Interest and other income
Interest expense
Depletion and amortization
Write-down of mineral properties
Segment loss
Segment assets
Capital expenditures
2003
Mining revenue
Mining revenue - intersegment
Operating costs
Operating costs - intersegment
Interest and other income
Interest expense
Depletion and amortization
Write-down of mineral properties
Segment (loss)
Segment assets
Capital expenditures

Las
Cristinas

La Victoria

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

1,926,425
(11,532,146)
(1,048,296)
(44,468,230)
29,543,350
54,571

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

24,516,942
1,688,060
(22,216,093)
(276,941)
(2,696,784)
1,015,184
7,819,042
855,961

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

697,638
(321,706)
(158,969)
(22,073,816)
139,289,973
289,312

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

19,291,018
1,433,285
(15,592,489)
(226,425)
(6,030,047)
(32,003,253)
(36,705,843)
7,213,907
9,939,717

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

176,187
(526,932)
(276,722)
(3,181,171)
(54,655,200)
34,063,016
53,503

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

9,412,553
2,821,291
(9,396,466)
19,805
(379,402)
(2,920,688)
(436,375)
27,273,441
1,476,173

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

472,739
(538,549)
(1,688,060)
(1,753,870)
76,264
-

Discontinued
Operations

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

213,201,542
93,459,341

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

(2,445,279)
(1,433,285)
(1,524,404)
163,015
-

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

113,451,761
40,671,495

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

1,916,854
(2,386,719)
(2,821,291)
(156)
(133,840)
(14,325,166)
(3,425,839)
156,807
246,181

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

72,780,264
7,256,568

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

954,672

-

Intersegment
Eliminations

Total

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

(1,688,060)
1,688,060
-

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

24,989,681
(22,754,642)
1,926,425
(11,809,087)
(3,745,080)
(45,206,916)
250,640,198
94,369,873

(350,000)
-

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

(1,433,285)
1,433,285
-

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

20,245,690
(18,037,768)
697,638
(548,131)
(6,189,016)
(32,003,253)
(60,654,063)
260,118,656
50,900,524

(2,969,088)
-

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

(2,821,291)
2,821,291
-

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

11,329,407
(11,783,185)
195,992
(906,490)
(3,331,250)
(17,506,337)
(61,486,502)
134,273,528
9,032,425
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16.

SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued)
Geographic information:
Substantially all revenues generated and capital assets held by the Company are in
Venezuela, except for long-lead time capital assets required for the development of Las
Cristinas, which are located temporarily in Houston, Texas and Antwerp, Belgium.

17.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On October 27, 2003, the Company finalized a purchase and sale agreement with
Uruguayan Mineral Explorations Inc. for the sale of the Company’s Uruguayan mining
operations. The Company received $1,650,000 as cash consideration for this sale.

18.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Lease agreements
The Company has entered into various operating lease agreements which expire over a
period of five years. Total rent expense charged to operations under these agreements was
$178,135 (2004 - $176,181; 2003 - $124,224).
Minimum lease payments under operating leases in effect through 2009 are as follows:

2006
2007
2008
2009
$

153,210
122,260
106,780
35,730
417,980

Las Cristinas
The rights of Crystallex to develop the Las Cristinas deposits are derived from the
agreement between the Company and the CVG (Note 6). The agreement does not transfer
to Crystallex any property ownership rights or title rights to the gold produced and the right
to develop the deposits is contingent upon the Company continuing to meet its ongoing
obligations under the agreement; principally, the Company is to:
a. make all investment and complete all works necessary to exploit the mineral resources,
b. present to the CVG for approval by September 17, 2003 a feasibility study, together with
an investment and financing plan to support the feasibility study,
c. present to the CVG for approval, life of mine, annual production plans and annual
production commitments,
d. commence production of the mining project by May 2004; such start may be extended in
the event permitting delays are encountered,
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18.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)
Las Cristinas (continued)
e. pay a royalty and exploitation tax, as set out in the agreement, based on the value of
gross monthly gold production,
f.

provide for certain social programs and for the employment, training and technical
assistance to small miners,

g. supply performance bonds related to the development and environmental obligations,
h. bear all costs relating to a technical liaison office to be created by the CVG.
The Company submitted the feasibility study inclusive of an investment and financing plan,
referred to in (b) above, within the prescribed timeframe and the CVG approved the
feasibility study. The Company is awaiting the receipt of the Permit to Impact Natural
Resources.
Although the agreement grants certain rights to the Company to develop the deposits, the
ultimate development will require significant financial resources, requiring the Company to
raise project financing, debt and equity. There is no assurance that sufficient additional
financing will be available to Crystallex and failure to obtain such financing could result in
delays or indefinite postponement, which could lead to a default under the agreement.
The Company has made certain commitments to date approximating $179 million (2004 $85 million), of which approximately $89 million has been paid, and will be required to make
additional commitments approximating $114 million, in order to complete construction of the
Las Cristinas project. Management remains confident that it will be able to obtain the
necessary financing through project debt, other forms of public market debt, or equity
financing. In the event that such efforts are not successful, the carrying value of Las
Cristinas could be subject to material adjustment.
Other
The Company is currently appealing tax assessments in Venezuela for the years ended
December 31, 1997 and 1998. The potential exposure relating to the tax assessments is
approximately $620,000 including interest and penalties. A provision for any obligation
relating to the outcome of this appeal will be recorded once the outcome is determinable.
In the normal course of business, the Company has entered into contracts that contain
commitments to pay amounts dependent upon future events. Such amounts, if any, are not
determinable by the year end; consequently, no amounts have been accrued in the financial
statements with respect to these commitments.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In January 2006 the Company issued 1,661,130 common shares under its equity draw
down facility for gross proceeds of $4,370,991. In February 2006 the Company completed
a non-brokered private placement to an investor of 10,799,000 units (the “Units) at a
purchase price of $2.90 per Unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $31,317,100. Pursuant to
this private placement, the Company issued 10,799,000 common shares and 12,250,000
common share purchase warrants (the “Warrants”). Each whole Warrant entitles the holder
to purchase one common share of the Company at a purchase price of $4.25 per share for
a period of 18 months commencing on the later of: (i) April 4, 2006; and (ii) 45 days
following the receipt of the Permit for the Company’s Las Cristinas Project in Venezuela.
The Company plans to use the net proceeds from the equity draw down facility and the
private placement to finance the development of the Las Cristinas Project, to repay a portion
of existing indebtedness and for general corporate purposes. A finder’s fee of C$1,071,232
was paid to the Company’s financial advisor in connection with the completion of the private
placement.
On March 26, 2006 the Company was advised by the CVG that it received official notice
from MIBAM advising that MIBAM has formally approved the technical, economic and
Financial Feasibility Study for the Las Cristinas project. This formal approval represents the
final external input required by MARN to complete the permitting process.

20.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Country Risk
The Company’s mineral exploration and exploitation activities may be adversely affected by
political instability and legal and economic uncertainty in the countries where the Company
has operations. The risks associated with the Company’s foreign operations may include
political unrest, labour disputes, invalidation of governmental orders and permits, corruption,
war, civil disturbances and terrorist actions, arbitrary changes in laws, regulation and
policies, taxation, price controls, exchange controls, delays in obtaining or the inability to
obtain necessary permits, opposition to mining from environmental or other nongovernmental organizations, limitations on foreign ownership, limitations on the repatriation
of earnings, limitations on mineral exports and increased financing costs. These risks may
limit or disrupt the Company’s projects or operations, restrict the movement of funds or
result in the deprivation of contractual rights or the taking of property by nationalization,
expropriation or other means without fair compensation. The Company’s principal mineral
properties and mining rights are located in Venezuela and as such the Company may be
affected by political or economic instabilities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Currency risk
The Company is exposed to currency risk as certain of its purchases are denominated in
foreign currency. Unfavourable changes in the applicable exchange rate may result in a
decrease or increase in foreign exchange gains or losses. The Company does not use
derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign currency risk.
The Company’s Venezuelan operations are currently subject to currency and exchange
controls. These government imposed controls may adversely affect the Company as such
controls restrict the Company’s ability to flow U.S. dollars, generated from the sale of its gold
production, out of the country.

Credit and market risk
The Company enters into financial agreements (financial instruments) with major
international banks and other international financial institutions in order to manage
underlying revenue and future cash flow exposures arising from commodity prices.
Financial instruments, which subject the Company to market risk and concentrations of
credit risk, consist primarily of cash and accounts receivable.
Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by
a change in interest rates or currency exchange rates. The Company manages the market
risk associated with commodity prices by establishing and monitoring parameters that limit
the types and degree of market risk that may be undertaken.
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty might fail to fulfill its performance obligations under
the terms of a contract. The Company limits the amount of credit exposure in cash and
securities by placing these financial instruments in high quality securities issued by
government agencies, financial institutions and major corporations and by diversifying its
holdings. The Company also has concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts
receivable as the accounts receivable are due from one customer, the Venezuelan Central
Bank.
The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by counterparties in
connection with metal forward and option contracts. The Company does not obtain any
security to support financial instruments subject to credit risk but mitigates this risk by
dealing only with a diverse group of financially sound counterparties and, accordingly, does
not anticipate loss for non-performance. Further, the Company minimizes its credit risk in
derivative instruments by entering into transactions with high-quality counterparties whose
credit ratings are high and by monitoring the financial condition of its counterparties. The
Company continually monitors the market risk of its activities.

Title risk
Title to mineral properties and mining rights involves certain inherent risks due to the
difficulties of determining the validity of certain claims as well as the potential for problems
arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyancing history characteristic of many mining
properties. Although the Company has investigated title to all of its mineral properties for
which it holds concessions or other mineral leases or licenses, Crystallex cannot give any
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RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Title risk (continued)
assurance that title to such properties will not be challenged or impugned and cannot be
certain that it will have valid title to its mining properties. The Company relies on title
opinions by legal counsel who base such opinions on the laws of countries in which the
Company operates.
The Company’s principal mineral properties and mining rights are located in Venezuela. In
2005 the Government of Venezuela announced that it would be changing the mining title
regime from a system where title was granted in the form of either concessions or operating
contracts to a system where all new titles would be granted in the form of operating
contracts. In order to effect this change, the Government advised that it would need to
create a national mining company which would be the nation’s contracting party covering
the entire country of Venezuela. The Government also indicated that, given this change in
title regime, it would also be appropriate to review all existing mining companies in a single
comprehensive exercise to ensure that only companies found to be in compliance with their
existing title terms and conditions would qualify for the new title. The Government’s public
references to the type of operating contract that it intends to implement for the mining
industry are comparable to the Mine Operation Agreement the Company currently holds for
the Las Cristinas Project.
21.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY
ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Canada (“Canadian GAAP”) which differ from those
principles that the Company would have followed had its consolidated financial statements
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The following adjustments would be required in order to
present the financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and in accordance with
practices prescribed by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
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DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY
ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (continued)
Balance Sheets
The impact of differences between Canadian GAAP and U.S. GAAP on the combined
balance sheets is as follows:
2005
Canadian
GAAP
Current assets
Restricted cash
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred financing fees

Current liabilities
Asset retirement obligations
Long-term debt
Shareholders' equity

U.S.
GAAP

Adjustments

$

20,061,580
12,081,312
215,260,043
3,237,263

$

(75,725,819) (a)
-

20,061,580
12,081,312
139,534,224
3,237,263

$

250,640,198

$

(75,725,819)

$

174,914,379

$

22,713,476
1,394,646
94,495,582
132,036,494

$

$
2,564,366 (b)
(78,290,185)

22,713,476
1,394,646
97,059,948
53,746,309

$

250,640,198

$

(75,725,819)

$

174,914,379

2004
Canadian
GAAP
Current assets
Restricted cash
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred financing fees

Current liabilities
Asset retirement obligations
Long-term debt
Commodity contract obligations
Shareholders' equity

U.S.
GAAP

Adjustments

$

43,643,981
95,505,636
117,329,337
3,639,702

$

$
(75,489,919) (a)
-

43,643,981
95,505,636
41,839,418
3,639,702

$

260,118,656

$

(75,489,919)

$

184,628,737

$

27,719,544
2,301,181
80,687,719
5,855,897
143,554,315

$

(75,489,919)

$

27,719,544
2,301,181
80,687,719
5,855,897
68,064,396

$

260,118,656

$

(75,489,919)

$

184,628,737

For the purposes of reporting in accordance with U.S. GAAP, amounts referred to as contributed
surplus under Canadian GAAP are referred to as additional paid in capital.
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DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY
ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (continued)
Statement of Operations
The impact of the differences between Canadian GAAP and U.S. GAAP on the loss for the
year would be as follows:

Net loss for the year
per Canadian GAAP
Adjustments to mineral properties
Beneficial conversion interest
Adjustment to amortization
of Series 2 Notes discount
Unamortized deferred financing costs
of Series 2 Notes
Accretion of interest on
convertible notes
Fair value of employee stock
options granted
Unrealized (loss) gain on trading securities

2005

2004

2003

(a)
(c)

$ (45,206,916)
(235,900)
(598,000)

$ (60,654,063)
5,172,791
-

(c)

(539,125)

-

-

(c)

(356,820)

-

-

$ (61,486,502)
(2,708,117)
-

(d)

-

-

(3,291,319)

(e)
(e)

-

-

(2,696,968)
(11,604)

Net loss for the year per U.S. GAAP

$ (46,936,761)

$ (55,481,272)

$ (70,194,510)

Net loss per share - basic

$

$

$

(0.24)

(0.32)

(0.59)
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DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY
ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (continued)
Statement of Operations Presentation
The following table reconciles “Net loss for the year per U.S. GAAP” to “Loss from
operations for U.S. GAAP”.

.
Net loss for the year per U.S. GAAP
Non-operating loss components
Under Canadian GAAP:
Interest on long-term debt
Commodity contract loss
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Gain on settlement of debt
Interest and other income
Investment in subsidiaries
Write-down of marketable securities
Non controlling interest
U.S. GAAP reconciling items:
Beneficial conversion interest
Adjustment to amortisation of
Series 2 Notes discount
Unamortized deferred financing
costs of Series 2 Notes
Accretion of interest on
convertible notes
Unrealized loss (gain) on trading securities
Non-operating loss per U.S. GAAP
Loss from operations per U.S. GAAP

2005
$ (46,936,761)

2004
$ (55,481,272)

2003
$ (70,194,510)

$ 11,809,087
3,770,835
1,192,593
(875,610)
(1,926,425)
6,600,000
-

$

$

548,131
963,717
(397,313)
(697,638)
493,702
(111,053)

906,490
16,475,340
3,528,401
(195,992)
136,276
-

598,000

-

-

539,125

-

-

356,820

-

-

22,064,425
$ (24,872,336)

799,546
$ (54,681,726)

3,291,319
11,604
24,153,438
$(46,041,072)
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DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY
ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (continued)
Statements of Cash Flows
The impact of the above differences between Canadian GAAP and U.S. GAAP on the
combined statements of cash flows would be as follows:

Cash flows used in operating
activities, Canadian GAAP
Adjustment for net loss
from discontinued operations
Adjustments to mineral properties
Adjustment to working capital relating to
discontinued operations

2005

2004
(Revised
See Below)

2003
(Revised
See Below)

$ (32,714,407)

$ (36,005,098)

$ (26,538,672)

$

$

$

(235,900)

350,000

-

Cash flows used in operating activities,
U.S. GAAP
(32,950,307)
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities,
Canadian GAAP
12,589,880
Cash flows provided by discontinued
operations, Canadian and U.S. GAAP
Adjustments to mineral properties
235,900
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities,
U.S. GAAP
Cash flows provided by financing activities,
Canadian and U.S. GAAP
Net (decrease) increase in cash and
cash equivalents before the following
Effect of foreign exchange rate
difference on cash and cash equivalents
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash
equivalents during the year
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

(350,000)
(2,709,655)

(2,969,088)
(6,509,464)
3,800,564

(38,714,753)

(32,216,660)

(179,183,440)

(8,666,513)

1,650,000
2,709,655

6,509,464

12,825,780

(174,823,785)

(2,157,049)

18,427,804

193,101,744

53,375,797

(1,696,723)

(20,436,794)

19,002,088

-

(1,696,723)
5,766,742
4,070,019

$

3,595,235

(20,436,794)
26,203,536

22,597,323
3,606,213

5,766,742

$ 26,203,536

For U.S. GAAP, the statement of cash flows is required to be reconciled to the net loss for
the year rather than to the loss from continuing operations. The above table reflects this
change and in addition reflects the cash flows from the discontinued operations as a
component of either operating, investing, and financing activities, respectively. In 2005, the
Company has separately disclosed the operating and investing of the cash flows attributable
to its discontinued operations, which in prior periods were reported on a combined basis as
a single amount.
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21.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY
ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (continued)
(a) Mineral Properties and Exploration and Development Costs
Under Canadian GAAP, mineral properties, including exploration, development and
acquisition costs, are carried at cost until the properties to which they relate are placed into
production, sold or where management has determined there to be a permanent impairment
in value.
Under U.S. GAAP, mineral property expenditures are expensed as incurred. Once a final
feasibility study has been completed however, additional costs incurred to bring the mine
into production are capitalized as development costs. Costs incurred to access ore bodies
identified in the current mining plan after production has commenced are considered
production costs and are expenses as incurred.
Under Canadian GAAP, travel costs directly related to the acquisition and development of
mineral properties are capitalized as a part of the underlying asset. Under U.S. GAAP,
included in the mineral property adjustments for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004,
and 2003 are expenses of $235,900, $251,324 and $323,934 respectively, related thereto.
Property, Plant and Equipment

(b)

2005

2004

Net book value under
Canadian GAAP

$ 215,260,043

$ 117,329,337

Adjustments to Las Cristinas
capitalized costs
Net book value under U.S. GAAP

(75,725,819)
$ 139,534,224

$

(75,489,919)
41,839,418

Bank Loan - Exchangeable Portion

In accordance with Canadian GAAP, upon the issuance on December 23, 2005 of the
exchangeable portion of the bank loan, the exchangeable portion was bifurcated between
its liability and equity components. The liability portion of the debt was measured by
determining the carrying amount of the notes by discounting the stream of future payments
of principal and interest at the prevailing market rate for a similar liability that does not have
an associated equity component.
Under US GAAP, on issuance, the conversion option contained in the exchangeable portion
of the bank loan is considered to be an embedded derivative that is required to be
bifurcated and accounted for as a free standing derivative financial liability separate from
the debt instrument. The Company will be required to re-measure the fair value of the
derivative financial liability at each reporting date with changes in fair value recorded in
earnings. Accordingly, for US GAAP purposes, the exchangeable portion of the bank loan
recorded as a component of equity of $2,564,366 would be reclassified to liabilities at
December 31, 2005.
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DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY
ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (continued)
(c)

Series 2 Notes

Under Canadian and US GAAP, upon issuance of the C$10.0 million Units, the net
proceeds received were allocated between the liability and equity components of the notes
by measuring the relative fair value of each component. The equity components were
measured at the fair value of the 200,000 common shares and the 450,000 warrants using
the current market price of the Company's common shares and the value obtained using the
black-sholes option pricing model, respectively. The liability portion of the notes was
measured by determining the carrying amount of the notes by discounting the stream of
future payments of principal and interest at the prevailing market rate for a similar liability
that does not have an associated equity component.
Under Canadian GAAP, this discount on the liability is then accreted to its principal value
over the original contractual term of the notes.
Under US GAAP, the discount on the liability is accreted to its principal value and deferred
financing costs are amortized over the term of the notes, or, in the event of an equity drawn
down, over the minimum period from the date of the draw down notice to the date at which
common shares are issued to settle the liability. As a result, an adjustment to amortization
expense of $539,125 is required under US GAAP so that the unamortized discount is fully
accreted upon final conversion by the holder. In addition, under US GAAP an adjustment of
$356,820 was required in order to expense the remaining unamortized deferred financing
costs and a further adjustment of $598,000 was required in order to reflect the beneficial
conversion feature that was deemed to exist as the common shares that were issued in
settlement of the obligation were at a discount to the prevailing market price.
(d)

Convertible Notes

Under Canadian GAAP, upon issuance of convertible notes, the net proceeds received are
allocated between the liability and equity components of the notes. The liability portion of
the convertible notes is calculated by determining the carrying amount of the convertible
notes by discounting the stream of future payments of principal at the prevailing market rate
for a similar liability that does not have an associated equity component.
Under U.S. GAAP, on issuance, convertible notes would be recorded as a liability and then
reclassified as equity only upon conversion. Further, under U.S. GAAP, the beneficial
conversion feature represented by the excess of the fair value of the shares issuable on
conversion of the notes, measured on the commitment date, over the amount of the
proceeds to be allocated to the common shares upon conversion, would be allocated to
additional paid in capital. This results in a discount on the note that is accreted as additional
interest expense over the term of the note and any unamortized balance is expensed
immediately upon conversion of the note. As at December 31, 2005 there were no
Convertible Notes outstanding. Accordingly, for U.S. GAAP purposes, for the year ended
December 31, 2005, an additional interest expense (including accretion) of $ Nil (2004 – Nil;
2003 - $3,291,319) has been recorded.
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DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY
ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (continued)
(e)

Stock-based Compensation

In accordance with Canadian GAAP, prior to January 1, 2004, the Company did not record
any expense with respect to stock options granted to employees, but rather included
additional financial statement disclosures.
Under U.S. GAAP, the Company measures its employee stock-based awards using the fair
value method as prescribed under SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation –
Transition and Disclosure” an amendment to SFAS No. 123. For the year ended December
31, 2005, an expense of $3,665,894 (2004 - $5,296,977; 2003 - $2,696,968) has been
recorded with respect to the stock options granted in the year.
For the purposes of reporting in accordance with US GAAP, stock based compensation is
included as part of general and administrative expense.
(f)

Investments

In accordance with Canadian GAAP, short term marketable securities are carried at the
lower of aggregate cost and current market values, with unrealized losses being included in
the determination of net income (loss) for the year. Long-term investment securities are
carried at cost and are only written down when there has been an other than temporary
decline in value. Any unrealized loss on write-down is recognized in the determination of
net income (loss) for the year.
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”, requires that equity securities that have readily
determinable fair values be classified as either available-for-sale or trading securities, and
that they be reported at fair market values. For available-for-sale securities, unrealized
gains or losses are to be reported as other comprehensive income, a separate component
of shareholders’ equity, until realized. For trading securities, unrealized gains or losses are
included in the determination of net income (loss) for the year.
(g)

Comprehensive Income (loss)

SFAS No. 130 “Reporting Comprehensive Income” establishes standards for the reporting
and display of comprehensive income and its components in a full set of general purpose
financial statements. SFAS 130 requires that all items that are required to be recognized
under accounting standards as components of comprehensive income (loss) be reported in
the financial statements. For the Company, the only components of comprehensive loss
are the net loss for the period, the change in cumulative translation adjustment and the
unrealized gains and losses on the available-for-sale securities. This information is
presented on the following page.
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DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY
ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (continued)
(g)

Comprehensive Income (loss) (continued)

For U.S. GAAP, the accumulated other comprehensive loss would be calculated as follows:

Accumulated other comprehensive
loss
Accumulated other comprehensive loss,
beginning of year
Change in cumulative translation
adjustment for the year
Reclassification adjustment for amounts
included in net income
Accumulated other comprehensive
loss, end of year

2005

2004

2003

$ (695,329)

$ (695,329)

$(1,122,324)

-

-

538,421

-

-

(111,426)

$ (695,329)

$ (695,329)

$ (695,329)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, end of year, is comprised entirely of the
cumulative translation adjustment.
Comprehensive Loss
For U.S. GAAP, the comprehensive loss would be calculated as follows:
2005

2004

2003

Comprehensive loss comprises
Net loss for the year
Change in cumulative translation
adjustment
Reclassification adjustment for
amounts included in net income
Comprehensive loss for the year

(h)

$

(46,936,761)

$

$

(55,481,272)

(70,194,510)
538,421

-

(46,936,761)

$

-

-

$

(55,481,272)

(111,426)
$

(69,767,515)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Committee issued EITF 04-3, Mining Assets –
Impairment and Business Combinations, which states that an entity should include Value
Beyond Proven and Probable Reserves and Resources (“VBPP”) in the value allocated to
mining assets in a purchase price allocation to the extent that a market participant would
include VBPP in determining the fair value of the assets. EITF 04-3 also states that an entity
should include the effects of anticipated fluctuations in the future market price of minerals in
determining the fair value of mining assets in a purchase price allocation in a manner that is
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DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY
ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (continued)
(h)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

consistent with the expectations of marketplace participants. In addition, EITF 04-3 states
that an entity should include the cash flows associated with VBPP as well as the effects of
anticipated fluctuations in the market price of minerals in estimates of future cash flows
(both undiscounted and discounted) used for determining whether a mining asset is
impaired. The adoption of this new standard did not have a significant impact on the
Company’s results of operations.
In June 2005, the Emerging Issues Committee issued EITF 04-6, Accounting for Stripping
Costs Incurred During the Production in the Mining Industry, which states that costs incurred
during production from the removal of overburden and waste material should be considered
variable production costs included in the costs of the inventory produced during the period
that the stripping costs are incurred. Once production has commenced from a mine,
production-related stripping costs will be accounted for as a cost of current production and,
therefore as a component of the cost of any inventory extracted from the mine and held at
period end. The consensus is effective for the first reporting period in fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2005. The Company is currently evaluating the possible impact of this
pronouncement.
In November 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1
– The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain
Investments. This FSP addresses the determination as to when an investment is considered
impaired, whether that impairment is other than temporary, and the measurement of an
impairment loss. This FSP also includes accounting considerations subsequent to the
recognition of an other-than-temporary impairment and requires certain disclosures about
unrealized losses that have not been recognized as other-than-temporary impairments. The
guidance in FSP FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1 is applicable to reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2005. Management does not expect the adoption of this FSP to have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.
In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (R) – Share-Based Payment, which
replaces SFAS No. 123 –Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes APB
Opinion No. 25 – Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. In March 2005, the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 – Share-Based
Payment, which provides interpretive guidance related to SFAS No. 123 (R). SFAS No. 123
(R) requires compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions to be
recognized in the financial statements. With limited exceptions, the amount of compensation
cost is measured based on the grant-date fair value of the equity or liability instruments
issued. SFAS No. 123 (R) requires liability awards to be re-measured each reporting period
and compensation costs to be recognized over the period that an employee provides
service in exchange for the award. Management plans to adopt this statement on the
modified prospective basis beginning January 1, 2006, and does not expect adoption of this
statement to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position and
results of operations. Subsequent to adoption of this statement, share-based benefits will be
valued at fair value using the appropriate option pricing model for option grants and the
grant date fair market value for stock awards. Compensation amounts so determined will be
expensed over the applicable vesting period.
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21.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY
ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (continued)
(h)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

In March, 2005, the FASB issued FIN 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligation – an interpretation of FASB 143”. FIN 47 provides guidance that an entity must
record a liability even if the obligation is conditional upon the occurrence of a future event
(e.g. plant shutdown), unless it is not possible to make a reasonable estimate of the
obligation. It also provides criteria for determining when an asset retirement obligation may
be estimated reasonably. The Company has adopted this standard which did not have a
significant impact on its results of operations.
In May 2005, the FASB issued FAS 154 – Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a
replacement of APB Opinion 20 and FASB Statement 3. This Statement of changes the
requirements for the accounting for and reporting a change in accounting principle and
applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle. It also applies to changes required
by an accounting pronouncement in the unusual instance that the pronouncement does not
include specific transition provisions. The Statement is effective for accounting changes
made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. Management does not expect the
adoption of this Statement to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
position and results of operations.
The FASB issued FAS 153 – Exchanges of Non-monetary Assets, an amendment of APB
Opinion 29. This Statement amends Opinion 29 to eliminate the exception for non-monetary
exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for
exchanges of non-monetary assets that do not have commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are
expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. The Statement is effective for
fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. Management does not expect the adoption of
this Statement to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position
and results of operations.
In February 2006, the FASB issued FAS 155 Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial
Instruments – an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140. This Statement
resolves issues addressed in Statement 133 Implementation Issue No. D1, “Application of
Statement 133 to Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets.” This Statement: •
Permits fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an
embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation • Clarifies which interest-only
strips and principal-only strips are not subject to the requirements of Statement 133 •
Establishes a requirement to evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to identify
interests that are freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that
contain an embedded derivative requiring bifurcation • Clarifies that concentrations of credit
risk in the form of subordination are not embedded derivatives • Amends Statement 140 to
eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a derivative
financial instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another derivative
financial instrument. Management does not expect the adoption of this Statement to have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.
This standard will be applicable to the Company during the period ended 2007.

Page 45 of 45

CRYSTALLEX INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005
(All dollar amounts in US dollars, unless otherwise stated)
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the audited financial condition and results of the operations of Crystallex
International Corporation (“Crystallex” or the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2005 should be read in conjunction with the Company’s
annual audited consolidated financial statements and the notes relating thereto. The audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). Effective January 1, 2004, the Company prepares and files its
audited consolidated financial statements and MD&A in United States dollars. Except where noted, this MD&A has been prepared as of March 27,
2006.

Highlights
 Ministry of Mines formal approval of the Las Cristinas Feasibility Study, announced March 27, 2006.
 Gold reserves at Las Cristinas increased to 13.6 million ounces.
 Las Cristinas detailed engineering 98% completed by year end. Long lead time equipment has been fabricated and is ready to
ship to site.
 Eliminated all remaining gold contract positions at an average cost of $505 per ounce.
 Record gold production of 53,000 ounces.
 Net loss for the year of $45.2 million, or ($0.23) per share, inclusive of a non-cash write-down of investments in subsidiary
companies of $6.6 million and a $3.8 million commodity contract loss.

Key Statistics
Operating Statistics
Gold Production (ounces)
Gold Sold (ounces)
Per Ounce Data:
Total Cash Cost 1
Average Realized Gold Price
Average Spot Gold Price
Gold Reserves (ounces):
Operating Mines
Las Cristinas
Financial Results ($ 000’s)
Revenues
Net Loss
Net Loss per Basic Share
Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Financial Position ($ 000’s)
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Short-term Investments
Restricted Cash and Equivalents
Total Debt

2005

2004

2003

53,178
55,217

48,973
49,478

35,244
30,632

$401
$453
$445

$365
$409
$410

$385
$363
$363

38,100
13,594,000

90,400
12,849,000

419,300
10,165,000

$24,990
($45,207)
($0.23)
($32,714)

$20,246
($60,654)
($0.35)
($36,005)

$11,329
($61,487)
($0.52)
($26,539)

$4,070
--$21,323
$96,938

$5,767
$30,277
$98,006
$85,088

$26,204
----$7,488

Shareholders’ Equity
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding Basic (millions)
1

2005
$133,167

2004
$143,554

2003
$78,998

194.7

172.2

118.3

For an explanation, refer to the section on Non-GAAP measures. The calculation is based on ounces of gold sold,

not ounces produced.

Financial Results Overview
The Company recorded a net loss of $45.2 million, or $0.23 per share in 2005, compared with a net loss of $60.7 million or $0.35 per
share in 2004. The decline in the net loss in 2005 reflects a write-down of investments in subsidiaries of $6.6 million in 2005, as
compared with mineral property write-downs in the prior year of $32.0 million.
Revenue of $25.0 million in 2005 was 23% higher than $20.2 million of revenue in 2004. The increase in revenue was attributable to
a 12% increase in ounces of gold sold and an 11% increase in realized gold prices. In 2005, the Company sold 55,217 ounces of gold
at an average realized price of $453 per ounce, while in 2004, 49,478 ounces of gold were sold at an average realized price of $409 per
ounce. The average spot gold price in 2005 was $445 per ounce, compared with $410 per ounce in 2004.
Operating cash flow was a deficit of $32.7 million in 2005, compared with a deficit of $36.0 million in 2004. In 2005, mine site
operating cash flow, (Mining Revenue less Operations Expenses) of $2.2 million was offset by expenditures of $12.0 million to
financially settle gold sales contracts and by $19.5 million of general and administrative expenses. Capital expenditures increased by
$43.5 million to $94.4 million in 2005, almost entirely due to increased spending on Las Cristinas. At year end 2005, the unrestricted
cash balance was $4.1 million and the Company had restricted cash of $21.3 million.

Development Project
Las Cristinas
Permit Process Overview and Status
All mining projects require a land use permit and an authorization to impact the natural resources, both of which are issued by the
Ministry of the Environment and Natural Resources, (“MARN”). The granting of the Permit to Impact Natural Resources (the
“Permit”) is dependent on approval of an environmental impact study (“EIS”) by the MARN. The EIS process includes the filing of a
comprehensive environmental, socio-economic and cultural impact study by the developer of the mining project. The Permit
authorizes the developer to construct and operate its mine. In addition, approval of the project by the Government, in the form of the
Ministry of Basic Industries and Mining (“MIBAM”) approving the feasibility study of each project, is required before MARN can
issue the Permit.
Following is a list of important milestones in the Las Cristinas permitting process:
 September 2003 - Feasibility Study for a 20,000 tpd operation is completed and released.
 March 2004 – CVG approved the Las Cristinas project.
 April 2004 – EIS was completed and submitted to MARN.
 August 2004 – Confirmed the first and prerequisite permit, the Land Use Permit.
 March 2006 – MIBAM approved the Las Cristinas Feasibility Study.
The MIBAM approval of the Las Cristinas project represents the last external input on the project required by MARN to complete the
permitting process by issuing the Permit.
Project Overview
In September 2002, the Company signed a Mining Operation Agreement (“MOA”) with the Corporacion Venezolana de Guayana
(“CVG”) which granted Crystallex exclusive rights to develop and exploit the gold deposits on the Las Cristinas property. A positive
Feasibility Study was completed by SNC Lavalin Engineers and Constructors Inc. (“SNCL”) in September 2003. The study was
approved by the CVG in March, 2004. An Engineering, Procurement and Construction Management (“EPCM”) contract to provide
services for the development of Las Cristinas was awarded to SNCL in March 2004.
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An EIS was submitted to the MARN in April 2004 to initiate the project permitting process. In September 2004, a Socio-Economic
Impact Assessment was completed by Proconsult C.A., of Venezuela, while SNCL also completed a construction phase
Environmental Supervision Plan. Both reports were submitted to the MARN.
In 2005, the Government of Venezuela announced that it would be changing the mining title regime from a system where title was
granted in the form of either concessions or operating contracts to a system where all new economic interest would be granted in the
form of operating contracts. The Government’s public references to the type of operating contract that it intends to implement for the
mining industry are comparable to the MOA the Company currently holds for Las Cristinas. In order to effect the policy change
process, the Government advised that it would need to create a national mining company which would be the nation’s contracting
party covering the entire country. The Government stated that the existing mining assets of the CVG would be transferred to create
the core of the new national mining company. Given the change in the CVG’s status in the mining sector, the Government decided
that the MIBAM would take over the regulatory role previously administered by the CVG in terms of approving projects on behalf of
the Government. MIBAM has reviewed Las Cristinas based on the previous CVG approval and has formally approved the Las
Cristinas feasibility study.
In 2005, Crystallex spent $93.5 million on Las Cristinas. Of this, approximately $70 million was for equipment purchases and
engineering services detailed in the capital budget of $293 million. The balance of the Las Cristinas expenditures were for programs
not included in the $293 million capital budget, including social and community development programs, expansion of the airstrip at
site, exploration, environmental work and general site administration costs.
Since the inception of the EPCM contract in April 2004, expenditures related to Las Cristinas total $131.9 million. Of this,
approximately $89 million is related to the $293 million capital budget governed by the EPCM contract.
2005 Development Progress
Considerable progress was achieved under the EPCM contract during 2005. Engineering design was 98% completed by year end and
will be finalized after receipt of the Permit. By year end, bids had been received for 95% of the total number of purchase orders and
contracts and approximately 80% of the total had been awarded. At December 31, 2005, the sum of payments to date for equipment
($89 million) plus the value of outstanding equipment under purchase orders and the value of commitments associated with awarded
construction contracts was $179 million.
The Company is in a position to initiate site development upon receipt of the Permit. The camp has been refurbished to accommodate
the construction workforce, the administration offices are occupied and the main access road to the site has been upgraded. Contracts
have been awarded for initial site work including construction of the river diversion channel and the construction of the tailings
management facility, while the contract for site preparation is close to being awarded. The conditional power supply contract with
EDELCA, the state utility, has been approved and provides a 10 year term with an average rate of $0.032 per kilowatt hour based on a
20,000 tpd operation. In addition, most long lead time equipment pieces were received and paid for by year end. Approximately $51
million of new equipment is currently in storage, primarily in Houston, Texas. Equipment will be shipped to Venezuela after receipt
of the Permit.
The Project Schedule will be updated upon receipt of the Permit. It is currently expected that once the Permit is received the
development period through commissioning of the plant will be approximately 20 to 22 months.
A comprehensive update to the September 2003 20,000 tpd Feasibility Study was completed by SNCL in August 2005. The update,
titled Development Plan – 2005, was commissioned to incorporate a number of design enhancements and to include a review of
capital and operating cost estimates. The revised capital estimate is $293 million, an increase of approximately 10% from the June
2004 estimate. The capital estimate is exclusive of Value Added Tax, (“VAT”). As provided for under Venezuelan law, Crystallex
has applied for an exoneration of VAT during the construction phase of Las Cristinas. The capital increase reflects higher costs for
crushed stone, concrete, costs associated with delays in receiving the Permit and inflation. With the advanced state of equipment
purchasing and awarding of contracts, the Company has a high degree of confidence in the revised capital estimate. The estimate of
operating costs also increased, with life of mine operating costs currently estimated to be $221 per ounce (including royalties
calculated at a $350/oz gold price) as compared with the previous estimate of $206 per ounce. The increase results from higher costs
for mill operating supplies, primarily sodium cyanide and steel grinding media, and to higher labour cost estimates. The increase in
prices for mill supplies is related to a global inflation of commodity prices, while the labour charge stems from both increasing labour
rates and manpower levels.
The Development Plan - 2005 included an updated estimate of resources and reserves at Las Cristinas. The revised reserve estimate
incorporated the higher operating costs and the results of Crystallex drilling programs in 2004 and 2005. Measured and Indicated
resources were estimated to be 501 million tonnes grading 1.1 grams per tonne gold, containing 17.7 million ounces of gold. Included
in the Measured and Indicated resources are proven and probable reserves of 295 million tonnes grading 1.32 grams per tonne gold,
representing 12.5 million ounces of gold calculated using a $350 per ounce gold price. Subsequent to year end 2005, Mine
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Development Associates (“MDA”) calculated the reserves at Las Cristinas using a $400 per ounce gold price. The pit design and
other physical parameters and costs that were used in the Development Plan did not change. At $400 per ounce, proven and probable
reserves at Las Cristinas are 353 million tonnes grading 1.20 g/t containing 13.6 million ounces of gold. At a $400 per ounce gold
price the total average operating cash costs increase due to higher royalty payments. Total cash costs, including royalties, at $400 per
ounce, average $160 per ounce for the first five years and $228 per ounce over the life of the mine.
Crystallex also engaged SNCL to complete a Pre-Feasibility study for expanding Las Cristinas from an initial 20,000 tpd to a 40,000
tpd operation. The study, completed in October 2005, assumes mechanical completion of the expansion to 40,000 tpd approximately
two years after completion of the 20,000 tpd plant. The estimate of incremental capital to double the capacity of the operation is $153
million. Operating costs over the life of mine were estimated to be $208 per ounce (including royalties calculated at a $350/oz gold
price), as compared with $221 per ounce for the 20,000 tpd operation. The mine life was reduced from 41 years at 20,000 tpd to 23
years with the expansion to 40,000 tpd. Average annual production over the mine life was estimated to be 504,000 ounces at 40,000
tpd, as compared with 274,000 ounces at 20,000 tpd.

Operations Review
Production

Total Gold Production (ounces)

2005
30,290
19,811
1,491
1,586
53,178

2004
35,961
5,891
2,412
4,709
48,973

2003
24,360
2,753
5,564
2,567
35,244

Total Ore Processed1 (tonnes)
Head Grade of Ore Processed (g/t)
Total Recovery Rate (%)
Total Recovered (ounces)

418,414
4.2
94%
53,178

443,504
3.7
93%
48,973

370,276
3.5
84%
35,244

$365

$385

$2,208
$9,900
($7,692)

($454)
$1,722
($2,176)

Gold Production (ounces)
Tomi Open Pits
Tomi Underground
La Victoria
Purchased Material

Total Cash Cost Per Ounce Sold
Mine Operating Cashflow ($,000)
Capital Expenditures ($,000)
Cash Flow After Capital2 ($,000)

$2,235
$856
$1,379

1

Ore from Tomi, La Victoria and purchased material is processed at the Company’s Revemin mill.

2

Capital expenditures at operating mines, (excludes Las Cristinas).

The Company produced a record 53,000 ounces of gold at its Venezuelan operations in 2005, an 8% increase over 2004. Gold
production in 2005 was almost exclusively from the Tomi concession, located near El Callao in Bolivar state.
As compared with the year earlier period, a more than threefold increase in production from the Tomi underground mine offset a 16%
reduction in open pit production. By the third quarter of 2005, the underground mine was consistently producing ore at design levels
of 6,000 tonnes per month. During 2006, underground production is forecast to average 6,000 tonnes per month at grades exceeding
11.0 g/t.
The decline in gold recovered from the open pits was attributable to processing fewer tonnes of ore and a decrease in the grade of ore
processed from 3.5 g/t to 3.2 g/t. Open pit mining was conducted principally at the Mackenzie and Miligrito pits on the Tomi
concession. By year end, the main Miligrito pit was depleted. During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company evaluated a plan to
extend, by approximately one year, the Mackenzie pit to the north to access some 288,000 tonnes of ore grading 2.9 g/t. At a gold
price in excess of $400 per ounce the north extension was viable and a decision was made to continue mining at Mackenzie. During
2006, the Mackenzie pit will provide the majority of the ore for the Revemin mill.
The mining operations generated cash flow of approximately $2.2 million in 2005, the same level as the year earlier. After capital
expenditures, mine site cash flow was $1.4 million in 2005 and a deficit of $7.7 million in 2004.
During 2006, the Company plans to conduct exploration on the Tomi properties with the aim of finding sufficient open pit ore to
supply the Revemin mill after the depletion of the existing Tomi pits in early 2007. Exploration is also planned for the Lo Incréible
property near El Callao.
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Tomi
100% Basis
Tomi Open Pits (100% Crystallex)
Tonnes Ore Mined
Tonnes Waste Mined
Tonnes Ore Processed
Average Grade of Ore Processed (g/t)
Recovery Rate (%)
Production (ounces)
Tomi Underground (100% Crystallex)
Tonnes Ore Mined
Tonnes Ore Processed
Average Grade of Ore Processed (g/t)
Recovery Rate (%)
Production (ounces)

2005

2004

2003

313,599
1,971,402
319,287
3.2
93%
30,290

334,289
2,751,124
350,008
3.5
92%
35,961

268,169
919,137
247,644
3.5
88%
24,360

72,177
63,319
10.2
95%
19,811

26,966
28,454
6.9
94%
5,891

12,698
11,070
8.3
93%
2,753

2005

2004

2003

24,892
126,704
25,649
2.02
89%

36,012
481,210
25,974
3.18
91%

86,078
461,163
89,025
2.8
68%

1,491

2,412

5,564

La Victoria
100% Basis
La Victoria
Tonnes Ore Mined
Tonnes Waste Mined
Tonnes Ore Processed
Average Grade of Ore Processed (g/t)
Recovery Rate (%)
Production (ounces)

During 2005, Crystallex reviewed alternative methods for processing of refractory sulphide ore at La Victoria. However, at present,
modifying the Revemin mill is not economically attractive as there is insufficient mineralized material to recover capital for mill
modifications, diverting the Yuruari River and pre-production waste stripping.
An in-pit crusher at La Victoria is currently being used to crush waste rock which is trucked to Las Cristinas for use as construction
aggregate.

Income Statement
Revenue
Revenue in 2005 was $25.0 million, compared with $20.2 million in 2004. The increase in revenue in 2005 was attributable to selling
over 11% more gold than the prior year and realizing a higher average price on gold sales. Gold sales in 2005 were 55,217 ounces,
compared with 49,478 in 2004. The increase in ounces sold was due to higher gold production as described in the Operations Review
section of this MD&A. The Company realized an average gold sales price of $453 per ounce in 2005, up from $409 per ounce in
2004. Spot gold prices averaged $445 per ounce in 2005 and $410 per ounce in 2004. Crystallex presently sells all its gold to the
Venezuelan Central Bank and receives the prevailing spot gold price. Gold sales proceeds are received in local currency and are used
to fund ongoing operations and capital projects in Venezuela.
Operating Expenses
The Company’s total cash costs of sales include mining, processing, mine administration, royalties and production taxes and exclude
corporate general and administrative expenses, depreciation and depletion, financing costs, capital costs and reclamation accruals.

5

The Company’s cash costs of sales for 2005 were $22.8 million, compared with $18.0 million in 2004. Although tonnes of waste and
ore mined were 30% lower in 2005 than in 2004 and less ore was processed, operating costs were higher in 2005 for a number of
reasons. For the last nine months of 2005, all costs at the mining operations were expensed, including costs that would typically be
capitalized, such as underground ramp development. All costs are expensed at the El Callao operations due to the short reserve life at
the Tomi mines. Higher operating costs in 2005 also reflect the impact of worldwide price inflation of commodities, including mining
and processing consumables, particularly explosives, cyanide and steel grinding media. In addition, the 2005 operating expense figure
includes costs associated with the BIOX pilot plant and concentrate studies for the La Victoria deposit and exploration expenses
related to drilling on the Tomi concession. In general, the Tomi open pit operations are relatively high cost due to the significant
amount of waste rock required to be mined. The strip ratio (the ratio of waste mined to ore mined) at the Tomi open pits averaged
6.3:1.0 in 2005.
On a unit cost basis, total cash costs were $401 per ounce of gold sold in 2005, compared with $365 per ounce in 2004. Unit costs
were higher in 2005 as the increase in operating costs more than offset the increase in ounces sold.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and Administrative expenses were $19.5 million in 2005, compared with $18.2 million in 2004. General and administrative
expenses in 2005 include $4.0 million for consulting fees related to the Las Cristinas project, an increase of $3.2 million from the year
earlier and also reflect an increase of approximately $1.0 million in capital taxes. These increases were offset, in part, by a $1.3
million reduction in payroll related charges.
Forward Sales and Written Call Options
Crystallex eliminated its gold contract positions in 2005. During the year, the Company spent cash of $12.0 million to financially
settle 93,119 ounces of gold contracts. The remaining 71,239 ounces of gold contract positions were closed out on December 23,
2005 and the settlement amount of $14.3 million was converted into a term loan facility with Standard Bank Plc to be partially
amortized over the next three years (see Financing Activities).
Accounting for Derivative Instruments
The Company’s forward sales and call options were designated as derivatives so they did not qualify for the normal sales exemption
(or hedge accounting) for accounting treatment. The Company’s metal trading contracts were recorded on the Balance Sheet at their
mark-to-market value. Crystallex has no off-balance sheet gold contracts. Changes in the mark-to-market value of derivatives are
recorded on the Balance Sheet and are recorded in earnings as an unrealized commodity contract gain (loss) in the Statement of
Operations. The gains and losses occur as a result of changes in commodity prices and interest rates.
The variation in the mark-to-market value of options and forwards from period to period can cause significant volatility in earnings.
The commodity contract loss in 2005 was $3.8 million. This included an unrealized gain of $8.3 million offset by a realized loss of
$12.0 million. The unrealized gain represents the reduction in the mark-to-market value of the Company’s gold contract obligations
since December 31, 2004, while the realized loss reflects $12.0 million of cash spent during the year for financially settling 93,119
ounces of gold contracts.
Investment in Subsidiaries
In November 2004, Vengroup delivered a notice of arbitration to the Company and ECM. On December 29, 2005 the Company and
ECM acquired the non-controlling shareholder interests in the holding companies which own or control the Lo Incréible 2, 4C and 4D
mining properties and the La Victoria concession for consideration of $6.6 million. As part of the transaction to acquire the noncontrolling interests, the Company also entered into a two-year consulting agreement for total fees of $600,000. This investment in
ECM and its subsidiaries was subsequently written down to nil at December 31, 2005, as the Company had previously written off its
controlling interest in the related underlying mining assets.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Crystallex’s principal sources of liquidity have been equity and debt financings. The Company does not expect to generate positive
operating cashflow (after corporate general and administrative expenses) until the Las Cristinas project is operating at full capacity.
Crystallex forecasts cash requirements of approximately $275 million through the first quarter of 2008 to build Las Cristinas, fund the
Company’s operating deficit, and for debt service. The Company intends to fund this overall requirement with existing cash and from
a combination of limited recourse project debt financing, and other forms of public market debt and equity financing.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
On December 31, 2005, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $25.4 million (including restricted cash of $21.3 million), a
decrease of $108.6 million since the beginning of the year. The restricted cash represents the balance of proceeds of a senior
unsecured note financing held in escrow. Approximately $12.7 million of the restricted cash will be released to pay for approved
capital expenditures detailed in the project budget for the development of Las Cristinas and $8.6 million will partially fund interest
payments in 2006 on the senior unsecured notes.
Under the terms of the 9.375% senior unsecured notes, the net proceeds of $95.5 million were allocated to two pools: $81.4 million in
the Project Pool to pay for approved Las Cristinas capital costs and $14.1 million in the Interest Pool to provide for the first three
semi-annual interest payments. The $12.7 million balance in the Project Pool is forecast to provide sufficient funding for Las
Cristinas planned capital expenditures through March 2006. Thereafter, Las Cristinas development expenditures will be funded with
the Company’s unrestricted cash.
Subsequent to year end, Crystallex completed a private placement of units consisting of 10,799,000 common shares and 12,250,000
warrants for net proceeds of $30.4 million, (see Financing Activities).
The change in the cash balance during 2005 is reconciled as follows:

Cash, Short-term Investments and Restricted Cash at December 31, 2004
Common Share and Warrant Financing Activities
Debt Borrowings
Total Sources of Cash

$ millions
$134.0
$16.2
$7.7
$23.9

Operating Cash Flow Deficit
Capital Expenditures – Las Cristinas
Capital Expenditures – Other Operations
Debt Service
Financing Fees
Total Uses of Cash

($32.7)
( 93.5)
( 0.9)
( 4.5)
(0.9)
($132.5)

Net Addition to Cash, Short-term Investments and Restricted Cash
Cash, Short-term Investments and Restricted Cash at December 31, 2005

($108.6)
$25.4

Cash Flow from Operations
Cash flow from operations (before capital expenditures) is principally affected by general and administrative expenditures, cash
expenditures on reducing the Company’s gold sales commitments, the level of gold sales, realized gold prices, cash operating costs,
and movements in non-cash working capital. Cash flow from operations was a deficit of $32.7 million in 2005, compared with a
deficit of $36.0 million the year earlier. Positive mine operating cash flow of $2.2 million in 2005 was offset principally by cash used
for general and administrative expenses ($19.5 million) and for settling gold contract positions ($12.0 million).
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures totalled $94.4 million in 2005, compared with $50.9 million in 2004. The increase is attributable to higher
spending on Las Cristinas. Capital expenditures for Las Cristinas totalled $93.5 million in 2005 and included expenditures for project
development under the EPCM contract and also for general site costs, including camp refurbishment, environmental work,
geotechnical drilling, exploration drilling and legal and professional fees associated with tax structuring and project financing.
Capital expenditures for 2005 and 2004 are summarized as follows:
($ millions)

Las Cristinas
Revemin/ Tomi

2005

2004

$93.5
0.4

$40.7
9.1
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($ millions)

2005

2004

Albino
Corporate
Total

0.5
--$94.4

0.8
0.3
$50.9

The amount of capital expenditures in 2006 will depend upon the timing of the receipt of the Las Cristinas Permit and the timing of
future financings. Assuming receipt of the Permit at the beginning of the second quarter, capital expenditures at Las Cristinas and
other corporate expenditures could exceed $170 million in 2006.
Financing Activities
In September 2005, the Company issued C$10 million of 5% senior unsecured notes (“Series 2 Notes”) due March 13, 2006 to a
counterparty. The notes were part of a Unit transaction that also included the issuance to the counterparty of 200,000 common shares
of the Company and warrants to acquire 450,000 common shares of the Company at an exercise price of C$3.19 per share exercisable
on or before September 13, 2006.
The Company also established a C$60 million equity draw down facility with the counterparty. Under the terms of the equity facility,
the Company has the right, but not the obligation, to require the counterparty to purchase up to C$60 million of the Company’s
common shares in a series of draws over a 24 month period, from September 14, 2005 to September 14, 2007. The minimum share
price at which the Company will sell shares to the counterparty is C$1.00. The Series 2 Notes provide that until the C$10 million
principal value of the Series 2 Notes has been repaid, 50% of the proceeds of each draw under the equity draw down facility shall be
applied to repay the Series 2 Notes.
During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company issued the following shares to the counterparty upon the exercise of four draws under
the equity draw down facility.
Date
October 5, 2005
October 31, 2005
November 30, 2005
December 16, 2005

Shares Issued
4,092,680
2,924,259
3,163,657
2,092,640

Gross Proceeds
C$6.0 million
C$4.6 million
C$6.0 million
C$5.0 million

The C$10 million of Series 2 Notes were repaid in full by year end with proceeds from the four draws under the equity draw down
facility. Subsequent to year end, on January 26, 2006, the Company exercised a fifth draw under the equity draw down facility and
issued 1,661,130 shares to the counterparty for gross proceeds of C$5.0 million.
On December 23, 2005, the Company closed out the remaining 71,239 ounces of gold contract positions and converted the $14.3
million settlement amount into a term loan facility with Standard Bank Plc to be partially amortized over the next three years,
maturing on December 31, 2008. The loan consists of a $7.5 million convertible portion and a $6.8 million non-convertible portion.
The payment obligations with respect to the Company’s existing $2.1 million loan with Standard Bank Plc have been restructured and
coordinated with the repayment terms of the term loan.
Crystallex is required to make a single repayment at the beginning of each month of $150,000 for principal and interest covering both
the new term loan facility and the restructured credit agreement with Standard Bank Plc. The principal amounts outstanding under
both the new term loan facility and the restructured credit agreement bear interest at an annual rate of Libor plus 2.5%. The Company
is required to make additional mandatory repayments, which are tied to the net proceeds of new equity financings, including
convertible or exchangeable debt securities. All payments are applied first against accrued and unpaid interest on the loans and then
against the outstanding principal, (in the case of the new term facility, the payments are applied against the outstanding principal of
the non-convertible portion of the loan). When the non-convertible portion of the new term facility has been repaid, Standard Bank
Plc can elect to either i) have the payment amount reduced to only cover accrued and unpaid interest on the convertible portion or ii)
maintain the payment at $112,500 to be applied against interest and principal on the convertible portion. Any amounts outstanding
under the new term loan facility and the restructured credit agreement after scheduled and additional mandatory repayments are due
December 31, 2008.
Crystallex is providing a guarantee of the obligations under the new term loan and the restructured credit agreement. The restructured
credit agreement remains secured by the Company’s Tomi and Revemin assets. The non-convertible portion of the new term facility
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ranks pari passu with unsecured and unsubordinated debt of Crystallex. The convertible portion of the new term facility ranks
subordinate in repayment terms to the existing $100 million of unsecured Crystallex notes.
The $7.5 million convertible portion of the new term facility is exchangeable at the option of Standard Bank into Crystallex shares.
The number of Crystallex shares received upon conversion is determined by the loan amount to be converted divided by the lesser of
C$2.32 (representing the average market price of Crystallex common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange, (“TSX”) for the five
trading days preceding December 23, 2005) and the average market price for Crystallex common shares on the TSX for the five
trading days preceding the exchange date. The exchange price per common share must not be lower than C$2.00. Crystallex can
require Standard Bank to exercise its exchange right if the average market price for Crystallex shares on the TSX for any five trading
days after April 24, 2006 exceeds C$4.40.
On December 29, 2005, the Company acquired for $6.6 million, the non-controlling shareholder interests in the holding companies
which own or control the interests in certain of the Lo Incréible mining properties in Venezuela. For consideration, on December 30,
2005 Crystallex issued to Vengroup 1,467,136 shares, for value of $3.0 million, and a $3.6 million exchangeable promissory note.
In February 2006, the Company completed a private placement of 10,799,000 units at a purchase price of US$2.90 per unit for net
proceeds of US$30.4 million. The units consisted of 10,799,000 common shares and 12,250,000 share purchase warrants. Each
warrant allows the holder to purchase a common share of the Company for US$4.25 per share for a period of 18 months commencing
on the later of April 4, 2006 or 45 days following the receipt of the Permit for the Las Cristinas project.
As a result of the private placement financing and in accordance with the terms of the new term facility with Standard Bank Plc, the
Company made a mandatory repayment of $2.1 million in February 2006 to Standard Bank Plc.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The Company’s contractual obligations and commitments, as at December 31, 2005, are tabled below:

US$ millions
Long Term Debt Repayments1
Asset Retirement Obligations
Operating Lease Obligations

Less than
One Year
$2.4
$0.1
$0.16

1 - 3 Years
$17.5
$1.5
$0.12

4 - 5 Years
----$0.14

More Than
5 Years
$100.0
-----

Total
$119.9
$1.6
$0.42

1

Included in the debt repayment schedule is $3.6 million of exchangeable notes, payable in four equal instalments commencing June 2006. The
Noteholders may elect to exchange the instalments for shares of the Company and the Company has the option to satisfy the instalment obligation
with shares.

At the end of 2005, the Company had awarded contracts and purchase orders with a value of $179 million related to the development
of the Las Cristinas project. Of this amount, $89 million had been paid by year end. The majority of the $90 million balance is
related to construction contracts that have yet to commence.
In addition, the Company has royalty commitments that are only payable if gold is produced. There is no obligation to make
payments if gold is not produced. Currently, the Company’s only gold production is from the Tomi concession, which is subject to a
1.75% royalty on gold revenue. All gold production in Venezuela is subject to an exploitation tax, established under the Mining Law,
which is payable to the Republic. The exploitation tax is presently 3% of gold revenue.
In the normal course of business, the Company has entered into contracts that contain commitments to pay amounts dependent upon
future events. Such amounts, if any, are not determinable by the year end; consequently, no amounts have been accrued in the
financial statements with respect to these commitments.

Related Party Transactions
During 2005, Crystallex entered into the following material transactions with related parties:
Legal Fees
x

McMillan Binch Mendelsohn LLP: McMillan Binch Mendelsohn LLP provides legal services to the Company. David
Matheson is counsel to McMillan Binch Mendelsohn LLP and was a member of the Board of Directors of Crystallex until
June 24, 2005. During that period in 2005, McMillan Binch Mendelsohn LLP was paid $730,000 million for providing
corporate legal services to Crystallex.
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Management and Consulting Fees
x

Orion Securities Inc.: Orion Securities Inc. is an investment dealer that provided underwriting services to the Company. Mr.
Robert Fung is a consultant to Orion Securities Inc. and is Chairman of the Board of Directors of Crystallex. During 2005,
Orion was paid $121,000 for these services, none of which was to the benefit of Mr. Fung.

Outstanding Share Data
At March 27, 2006, 220,837,259 common shares of Crystallex were issued and outstanding. In addition, at March 27, 2006 options to
purchase 11,514,294 common shares of Crystallex were outstanding under the Company’s stock option plan and warrants to purchase
8,997,727 common shares of Crystallex were issued and outstanding. In addition, warrants to purchase 12,250,000 common shares of
Crystallex were issued and can be exercised on the later of April 4, 2006 or 45 days following the receipt of the Permit for Las
Cristinas.

Quarterly Data

Revenue
Net (Loss)
1

Q4
$6,623
($18,585)

2005
Q3
Q2
$7,020
$6,301
($10,338)
($8,295)

Q1
$5,046
($7,989)

Q4
$5,037
($44,115)

2004
Q3
Q21
$5,632
$5,634
($9,441)
($448)

Q1
$3,943
($6,651)

Reflects adjustment of $3.96 million relating to revised accounting treatment of gain derived from Standard Bank orderly disposition agreement.

Quarterly revenue in 2005, as compared with 2004 reflects higher gold sales and higher realized gold prices. Net income in the fourth
quarter of 2005 reflects the impact of a $6.6 million write-down of an investment in a subsidiary company. The comparable quarter in
2004 reflects the impact of a $32.0 million write-down of mineral properties and property plant and equipment.
The quarterly trends are consistent with the explanations of the annual trends set out in this MD&A.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Critical accounting estimates are those estimates that have a high degree of uncertainty and for which changes in those estimates could
materially impact the Company’s results. Critical accounting estimates for the Company include property evaluations, capitalization
of exploration and development costs and commodity derivative contracts.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principals generally accepted in Canada requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets at the
date of the consolidated financial statements. Significant estimates used herein include those relating to gold prices, recoverable
proven and probable reserves, available resources, fair values of commodity derivative contracts, (principally fixed forward contracts
and written call options) available operating capital and required reclamation costs. Among other things, these estimates each affect
management’s evaluation of asset impairment and the recorded balances of inventories, site closure and reclamation and remediation
obligations. It is reasonably possible that actual results could differ in the near term from these and other estimates used in preparing
these financial statements and such differences could be material.
Property Evaluations
The Company reviews and evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amounts of all its producing properties and related plant and
equipment annually or when events and changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Estimated
net future cashflows, on an undiscounted basis, are calculated using estimated recoverable ounces of gold (considering current proven
and probable reserves), estimated future commodity price realization (considering historical and current prices, price trends and
related factors), operating costs, future capital expenditures, project financing costs, reclamation costs and income taxes. Reductions
in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, with corresponding charges to earnings, are recorded to the extent that the
estimated future discounted net cashflows are less than the carrying amount.
Capitalization of Exploration and Development Costs
Mineral exploration costs such as topographical, geochemical, and geophysical studies are capitalized and carried at cost until the
properties to which they relate are placed into production, sold, or where management has determined there to be a permanent
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impairment in value. Development costs incurred to access ore bodies identified in the current mining plan are expensed as incurred
after production has commenced. Development costs necessary to extend a mine beyond those areas identified in the current mining
plan and which are incurred to access additional reserves are deferred until the incremental reserves are mined. Mineral properties and
development costs, including the mineral acquisition and direct mineral exploration costs relating to the current mining plan are
depleted and amortized using the unit-of-production method over the estimated life of the ore body based on proven and probable
reserves.
Commodity Derivative Contracts
The Company may use commodity derivative contracts, principally fixed forward contracts and written call options, to economically
hedge exposure to fluctuations in the market price of gold. These instruments are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes
and are carried on the balance sheet under the captions Commodity Contract Obligations at estimated fair market value.
Premiums received at the inception of written call options are initially recognized on the balance sheet as a liability. Unrealized gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair market value of the liability related to both fixed forward contracts and written call options
and realized gains/losses on commodity derivative contracts which are either settled financially or through physical delivery, are
recognized in the statement of operations in the period of the change or settlement as commodity contract loss/gain.

Risk Factors
The business and operations of Crystallex are subject to risks. In addition to considering the other information in the Annual
Information Form, you should carefully consider the following factors. Any of the following risks could have a material adverse effect
on the Company, its business and future prospects.
Mine Operation Agreement
Lack of Ownership Rights
Under Venezuelan law, all mineral resources belong to the Republic of Venezuela. In accordance with the VML, the Government of
Venezuela has reserved for itself the right to directly explore and exploit the Las Cristinas Deposits and has elected to do so through
the CVG. See “Las Cristinas Project – Mine Operation Agreement.” The Mine Operation Agreement is an operation agreement and
does not transfer any property ownership rights to the Company. Rather, the Company has been authorized to exploit the Las
Cristinas Deposits for the CVG in accordance with to the Mine Operation Agreement. The interests of the Company in the Las
Cristinas Deposits are contingent upon the Company continuing to satisfy its obligations under the Mine Operation Agreement.
Failure to do so could result in the CVG having the right to terminate the Mine Operation Agreement.
Lack of Copper Rights
In addition to gold, the Las Cristinas Deposits also contain very low levels of copper, 0.13% on average. Under the Mine Operation
Agreement, the Company is only entitled to exploit the gold contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits. Based on the feasibility studies
carried out by the Company and following discussions with the CVG, the Company has determined that exploiting the copper
contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits would detract from the economics of the Las Cristinas Project. The Company does not need
the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits in order to exploit the gold and does not currently intend to
negotiate with the CVG for the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits.
Although the Company does not believe that the MIBAM would do so, the MIBAM retains the right to grant exploitation and other
rights with respect to the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits to the CVG or a third party. The Company has been advised
by its Venezuelan counsel that:
(a)

if the MIBAM grants the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits to the CVG, subject to
fulfilling all necessary requirements of Venezuelan law (including the additional grant by the MIBAM to the CVG
of the right to negotiate the exploitation of the copper with third parties), the CVG has agreed under the terms of the
Mine Operation Agreement to negotiate the exploitation of the copper with the Company; and

(b)

if the MIBAM grants the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits to a third party, the
Company’s right under the Mine Operation Agreement to exploit the gold contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits
would, as a matter of Venezuelan law, take precedence over the third party’s right to exploit the copper.

If the MIBAM grants the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits to the CVG, there can be no assurance that
the MIBAM will grant to the CVG the additional right to negotiate the exploitation of the copper with third parties or that the
Company will be able to negotiate an agreement with respect to the exploitation of the copper with the CVG. Also, if the MIBAM
grants the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits to a third party, or if the MIBAM grants the right to
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exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits to the CVG and the CVG grants the right to exploit the copper to a third
party, there can be no assurance that the Company will be successful under Venezuelan law in asserting that its right to exploit the
gold contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits takes precedence over the third party’s right to exploit the copper.
Additional Funding Requirements
Under the terms of the Mine Operation Agreement, the Company is required, among other things, to make all necessary investments
and complete all works necessary to reactivate the Las Cristinas Deposits, to design, construct and operate a processing plant to
process gold for its subsequent commercialization and sale and to return the mine, its installations and equipment to the CVG upon
termination of the Mine Operation Agreement. In order to carry out the Las Cristinas Project and its other mining projects, the
Company will need to raise substantial additional financing which may include one or more of non-recourse project debt and other
forms of public markets debt and equity.
In September 2005, the Company issued C$10 million of 5% unsecured notes due March 13, 2006 to Azimuth Opportunity, Ltd.
(“Azimuth”) and established a C$60 million equity draw down facility with the same entity. The agreements between Azimuth and the
Company stipulate that, until the C$10 million principal value of the unsecured notes has been repaid, 50% of the proceeds of each
draw under the equity draw down facility shall be applied to repay the unsecured notes. During the fourth quarter of 2005 the
Company received gross proceeds of C$21.6 million under the equity draw down facility, a portion of which was used to repay the
outstanding C$10 million principal value of the unsecured notes. In January 2006 the Company raised additional gross proceeds of
C$5.0 million under the equity draw down facility. In February 2006 the Company received gross proceeds of US$31.3 million under
a private placement of units. Despite these financings, the Company currently has limited financial resources and there can be no
assurance that sufficient additional financing will be available to the Company on acceptable terms or at all. Failure to obtain such
additional financing could result in a delay or the indefinite postponement of the Las Cristinas Project and other mining projects of the
Company and could also result in the Company defaulting in the performance of its obligations under the Mine Operation Agreement.
Reserve and Resource Estimates
The Company’s reported mineral reserves and resources are estimates only. As a result, there can be no assurance that they will be
recovered at the rates estimated or at all. Mineral reserve and resource estimates are based on limited sampling and are uncertain
because the samples may not be representative. Mineral reserve and resource estimates may require revision (either up or down)
based on actual production experience. Market fluctuations in the price of metals, increased production costs or reduced recovery
rates may render estimated mineral reserves and resources uneconomic and may ultimately result in a restatement of mineral reserves
and resources. In addition, short-term operating factors, such as the need for sequential development of ore bodies and the processing
of new or different ore grades, may adversely affect the Company’s profitability in any particular accounting period. If its mineral
reserve and resource estimates are incorrect, the Company will not correctly allocate its financial resources, causing it either to spend
too much on what could be a less than economic deposit or to fail to mine what could be a significant deposit.
Title to Mineral Properties
Acquisition of title to mineral properties is a very detailed and time-consuming process. Title to, and the area of, mineral properties
may be disputed or impugned. Although the Company has investigated its title to the mineral properties for which it holds
concessions or mineral leases or licenses, there can be no assurance that the Company has valid title to such mineral properties or that
its title thereto will not be challenged or impugned. For example, mineral properties sometimes contain claims or transfer histories
that examiners cannot verify; and transfers under foreign law often are complex. The Company does not carry title insurance with
respect to its mineral properties. A successful claim that the Company does not have title to a mineral property could cause the
Company to lose its rights to mine that property, perhaps without compensation for its prior expenditures relating to the property.
Furthermore, as noted above under “Mine Operation Agreement – Lack of Ownership Rights,” the Mine Operation Agreement does
not transfer any property ownership rights to the Company.
In 2005 the Government of Venezuela announced that it would be changing the mining title regime from a system where title was
granted in the form of either concessions or operating contracts to a system where all new title would be granted in the form of
operating contracts. In order to effect this change, the Government advised that it would need to create a national mining company
which would be the nation’s contracting party covering the entire country of Venezuela. The Government also indicated that, given
this change in title regime, it would also be appropriate to review all existing mining companies in a single comprehensive exercise to
ensure that only companies found to be in compliance with their existing title terms and conditions would qualify for the new title.
This review was completed as of December 31, 2005. MIBAM is expected to have completed its overall approval process by the end
of March 2006. The Government’s public references to the type of operating contract that it intends to implement for the mining
industry are comparable to the Mine Operation Agreement the Company currently holds for the Las Cristinas Project.
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Arbitration Proceedings
The Company is a party interested in, but is not a party to, an ongoing arbitration. See “Legal Proceedings” in the Company’s 2005
AIF filed concurrently on SEDAR and EDGAR for a detailed description of the arbitration proceeding.
Gold Price Volatility
The gold price can fluctuate widely and is affected by numerous factors beyond the Company’s control, including industrial and
jewellery demand, inflation and expectations with respect to the rate of inflation, the strength of the U.S. dollar and other currencies,
interest rates, gold sales by central banks, forward sales by producers, global or regional political or financial events, and production
and cost levels in major gold-producing regions. The gold price is also subject to rapid short-term changes due to speculative
activities. During the period 1998 to 2005, the gold price fluctuated between a low of US$253 and a high of US$536.50. On
December 30, 2005, the p.m. fixing price of gold sold in the London Bullion Market was US$513.
The Company’s revenues, cash flow and profitability are significantly affected by changes in the gold price. If the gold price declines
below the cost of production at any of the Company’s operations for a significant period, the Company may be required to suspend or
terminate production at the affected operation. In addition, the Company may be required to restate its mineral reserves and resources,
write down its investment and increase or accelerate reclamation and closure charges at the affected operation. Any of these
developments could negatively affect the Company’s profitability, cash flows and financial position. Accordingly, even if the
Company discovers and produces gold, there can be no assurance that the gold price will be high enough to enable the Company to
sell the gold produced by it profitably.
The market price of the common shares of the Company is also affected by fluctuations in the gold price.
Mineral Exploration and Exploitation
Mineral exploration and exploitation involves a high degree of risk. Few properties that are explored are ultimately developed into
producing mines. Unusual or unexpected formations, formation pressures, fires, power outages, labour disruptions, flooding,
explosions, tailings impoundment failures, cave-ins, landslides and the inability to obtain adequate machinery, equipment or labour are
some of the risks involved in mineral exploration and exploitation activities. The Company has relied on and may continue to rely on
consultants and others for mineral exploration and exploitation expertise. Substantial expenditures are required to establish mineral
reserves and resources through drilling, to develop metallurgical processes to extract the metal from the ore and, in the case of new
properties, to develop the mining and processing facilities and infrastructure at any site chosen for mining. There can be no assurance
that the Company will discover mineral reserves and resources in sufficient quantities to justify exploitation or that the funds required
to exploit any mineral reserves and resources discovered by the Company will be obtained on a timely basis or at all. The economics
of exploiting mineral reserves and resources discovered by the Company are affected by many factors, many outside the control of the
Company, including the cost of operations, variations in the grade of ore mined and metals recovered, price fluctuations in the metal
markets, costs of processing equipment, continuing access to smelter facilities on acceptable terms and other factors such as
government regulations, including regulations relating to royalties, allowable production, importing and exporting of minerals and
environmental protection. There can be no assurance that the Company’s mineral exploration and exploitation activities will be
successful.
The Company’s operations may also be affected by the presence of illegal miners: something that is not uncommon in the gold mining
areas of the Guyana Shield area of Venezuela. Although the Company, in conjunction with the local authorities, employs strategies to
control the presence of illegal miners, there can be no assurance that these strategies will be successful or that the Company’s
operations will not be adversely affected by the presence of illegal miners.
Country Risk
Political and Economic Instability
The Company’s mineral exploration and exploitation activities may be adversely affected by political instability and legal and
economic uncertainty in the countries where the Company has operations. The risks associated with the Company’s foreign
operations may include political unrest, labour disputes, invalidation of governmental orders and permits, corruption, war, civil
disturbances and terrorist actions, arbitrary changes in laws, regulations and policies, taxation, price controls, exchange controls,
delays in obtaining or the inability to obtain necessary permits, opposition to mining from environmental or other non-governmental
organizations, limitations on foreign ownership, limitations on the repatriation of earnings, limitations on mineral exports and
increased financing costs. These risks may limit or disrupt the Company’s projects or operations, restrict the movement of funds or
result in the deprivation of contractual rights or the taking of property by nationalization, expropriation or other means without fair
compensation.
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The Company’s principal mineral properties are located in Venezuela and as such the Company may be affected by political or
economic instabilities. The risks associated with carrying on business in Venezuela include, but are not limited to, civil unrest,
terrorism, military repression, extreme fluctuations in currency exchange rates and high rates of inflation. Violent crime is prevalent
throughout the country and includes kidnapping, smuggling and drug trafficking especially in remote areas. Changes in resource
development or investment policies or shifts in political attitudes in Venezuela may adversely affect the Company’s business.
Operations may be affected in varying degrees by government regulations with respect to restrictions in production, price controls,
export controls, income taxes, expropriation of property, maintenance of claims, environmental legislation, land use, small miners
activities, land claims of local people, water use and mine safety. The effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted.
Venezuela currently has exchange controls that affect the ability of companies doing business in Venezuela to convert Venezuelan
source income into foreign currency. There can be no assurance that exchange controls will not continue and, if they do, that they will
not adversely affect the Company’s operations, including its ability to satisfy its foreign currency obligations. See also “Mining in
Venezuela.”
Uninsurable Risks
Mineral exploration and exploitation activities involve numerous risks, including unexpected or unusual geological operating
conditions, rock bursts, cave-ins, fires, floods, earthquakes and other environmental occurrences and political and social instability. It
is not always possible to obtain insurance against all such risks and the Company may decide not to insure against certain risks as a
result of high premiums or other reasons. Should such liabilities arise, they could negatively affect the Company’s profitability and
financial position and the value of the common shares of the Company. The Company does not maintain insurance against
environmental risks.
Competition
The competition to discover and acquire mineral properties considered to have commercial potential is intense. The Company
competes with other mining companies, many of which have greater financial resources than the Company, with respect to the
discovery and acquisition of interests in mineral properties and the recruitment and retention of qualified employees and other
personnel to carry on its mineral exploration and exploitation activities. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to
successfully compete against such companies.
Limited Mining Operations
The Company’s Tomi operations and Revemin mill currently account for substantially all of the Company’s mineral production and
revenues. Any adverse development affecting these operations could adversely affect the Company’s financial performance and
results of operations.
Production Risks
The Company prepares estimates of future production at its operations. Failure to meet these estimates could adversely affect the
Company’s profitability, cash flows and financial position. There can be no assurance that the Company will achieve its production
estimates.
The Company’s actual production may vary from its estimates for a variety of reasons, including actual ore mined varying from
estimates of grade, tonnage, dilution and metallurgical and other characteristics; short-term operating factors such as the need for
sequential development of ore bodies and the processing of new or different ore grades from those planned; mine failures, slope
failures or equipment failures; industrial accidents; natural phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods, droughts, rock
slides and earthquakes; encountering unusual or unexpected geological conditions; changes in power costs and potential power
shortages; shortages of principal supplies needed for operation, including explosives, fuels, chemical reagents, water, equipment parts
and lubricants; labour shortages or strikes; civil disobedience and protests; and restrictions or regulations imposed by governmental or
regulatory authorities or other changes in the regulatory environments. Such occurrences could result in damage to mineral properties,
interruptions in production, injury or death to persons, damage to property of the Company or others, monetary losses and legal
liabilities. These factors may cause a mineral deposit that has been mined profitably in the past to become unprofitable forcing the
Company to cease production. These factors also apply to the Company’s future operations. For example, it is not unusual for new
mining and processing operations to experience unexpected problems during the start-up phase.
One of the most significant physical production issues the Company faces in the Las Cristinas Project pertains to the heavy amount of
rainfall the area receives (an average of 3.3m/year). MDA has accounted for anticipated time lost due to rainfall in scheduling
production and determining equipment requirements. Regardless, actual mining experience with the combination of wet saprolite and
high rainfall rates may require adjustment of these estimates.
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Environmental Regulation and Liability
The Company’s activities are subject to laws and regulations controlling not only mineral exploration and exploitation activities
themselves but also the possible effects of such activities upon the environment. Environmental legislation may change and make the
mining and processing of ore uneconomic or result in significant environmental or reclamation costs. Environmental legislation
provides for restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions of various substances produced in association with certain
mineral exploitation activities, such as seepage from tailings disposal areas that could result in environmental pollution. A breach of
environmental legislation may result in the imposition of fines and penalties or the suspension or closure of operations. In addition,
certain types of operations require the submission of environmental impact statements and approval thereof by government authorities.
Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which may mean stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties
for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for
companies and their directors, officers and employees. Permits from a variety of regulatory authorities are required for many aspects
of mineral exploitation activities, including closure and reclamation. Future environmental legislation could cause additional expense,
capital expenditures, restrictions, liabilities and delays in the development of the Company’s properties, the extent of which cannot be
predicted. In the context of environmental permits, including the approval of closure and reclamation plans, the Company must
comply with standards and laws and regulations which may entail costs and delays depending on the nature of the activity to be
permitted and how stringently the regulations are implemented by the permitting authority. The Company does not maintain
environmental liability insurance.
The Las Cristinas Deposits are located within the Imataca Forest Reserve. Presidential Decree 3.110, which establishes an ordinance
plan and regulations for the use of the Reserve, permits mining activities in the Reserve and establishes the legal framework for such
activities. Presidential Decree 3.110 replaced a previous Presidential decree that was the subject of a legal challenge before the
Venezuelan Supreme Court. It is possible that Presidential Decree 3.110 could be similarly challenged and that such challenge, if
ultimately successful, could prevent the Company from exploiting or fully exploiting the Las Cristinas Deposits.
Venezuelan Decree No. 1257 establishes the environmental assessment requirements for the Las Cristinas Project. The Company was
advised that the Las Cristinas Project is not a new project and, accordingly Article 40 of Decree 1257 does not apply since no
significant increase in environmental impact is predicted.
Regulations and Permits
The Company’s activities are subject to wide variety of laws and regulations governing health and worker safety, employment
standards, waste disposal, protection of the environment, protection of historic and archaeological sites, mine development and
protection of endangered and protected species and other matters. The Company is required to have a wide variety of permits from
governmental and regulatory authorities to carry out its activities. These permits relate to virtually every aspect of the Company’s
exploration and exploitation activities. Changes in these laws and regulations or changes in their enforcement or interpretation could
result in changes in legal requirements or in the terms of the Company’s permits that could have a significant adverse impact on the
Company’s existing or future operations or projects. Obtaining permits can be a complex, time-consuming process. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to obtain the necessary permits on acceptable terms, in a timely manner or at all. The costs
and delays associated with obtaining permits and complying with these permits and applicable laws and regulations could stop or
materially delay or restrict the Company from continuing or proceeding with existing or future operations or projects. Any failure to
comply with permits and applicable laws and regulations, even if inadvertent, could result in the interruption or closure of operations
or material fines, penalties or other liabilities.
Delays in acquiring the environmental permits, necessary to allow commencement of construction of the mine, have impacted the
overall project completion. Upon receipt of the final environmental permit, the Company expects to commence construction for the
base case 20,000 tonnes per day level which should see initial production in early 2008.
Currency Fluctuations
Currency fluctuations may affect costs at the Company’s operations. Gold is sold throughout the world based principally on a U.S.
dollar price, but a portion of the Company’s operating expenses is in non-U.S. dollar currencies. Any appreciation of these non-U.S.
dollar currencies against the U.S. dollar could negatively affect the Company’s profitability, cash flows and financial position.
Recent Losses and Write-downs
The Company incurred net losses in each of 2005, 2004, and 2003. The Company’s deficit as at December 31, 2005 was $251.5
million. The Company’s profitability depends, among other things, on the gold price, gold production and cash operating costs at its
operations and other factors discussed in this section of the Annual Information Form. Substantially all of these factors are beyond the
control of the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company will become profitable in the near future.
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Dependence on Key Employees
The Company’s business and operations are dependent on retaining the services of a small number of key employees. The success of
the Company is, and will continue to be, to a significant extent, dependent on the expertise and experience of these employees. The
loss of one or more of these employees could have a materially adverse effect on the Company. The Company does not maintain
insurance on any of its key employees.
Potential Dilution

The issue of common shares of the Company upon the exercise of the options and warrants will dilute the
ownership interest of the Company’s current shareholders. The Company may also issue additional option and warrants or
additional common shares from time to time in the future. If it does so, the ownership interest of the Company’s then current
shareholders could also be diluted.
For additional risk factors, please refer to the Company’s Annual Information Form filed on SEDAR and EDGAR.
REPORT ON DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Pursuant to Multilateral Instrument 52-109 - Certification of Disclosure in Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings, the Company evaluated
the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures (the "Disclosure Controls") as at year end December 31, 2005 under the
supervision and with the participation of the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer. Based on the
results of this evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the design and
operation of the Disclosure Controls were effective and that the Disclosure Controls provide reasonable assurance that material
information relating to Crystallex and its subsidiaries is made known to the Company by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which the annual filings are being prepared.
NON GAAP MEASURES
Total cash costs per ounce are calculated in accordance with the Gold Institute Production Cost Standard, (the “Standard”). The total
cash cost per ounce data are presented to provide additional information and are not prepared in accordance with Canadian or U.S.
GAAP. The data should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with
GAAP. The measures are not necessarily indicative of operating profit or costs of operations as determined under Canadian or U.S.
GAAP. The total cash cost per ounce calculation is derived from amounts included in the Operating Expense line on the Statement of
Operations. As this line item is unchanged under US GAAP, the total cash cost per ounce figure is similarly unchanged using US
GAAP results of operations.
Data used in the calculation of total cash costs per ounce may not conform to other similarly titled measures provided by other
precious metals companies. Management uses the cash cost per ounce data to assess profitability and cash flow from Crystallex’s
operations and to compare it with other precious metals producers. Total cash costs per ounce are derived from amounts included in
the Statement of Operations and include mine site operating costs such as mining, processing, administration, royalties and production
taxes but exclude amortization, reclamation, capital expenditures and exploration costs.
Total cash costs per ounce may be reconciled to our Statement of Operations as follows:
$,000’s
Operating Costs per Financial Statements
Adjust for Albino Development Expenditures
Reclamation and Closure Costs
Operating Costs for Per Ounce Calculation
Gold Ounces Sold
Total Cash Cost Per Ounce US$

2005
$22,755
592
--$22,163

2004
$18,038
----$18,038

55,217
$401

49,478
$365

Additional information relating to Crystallex is available on SEDAR or EDGAR.
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Management Discussion and Analysis, including information as to the
future financial or operating performance of the Company, its subsidiaries and its projects, constitute forward-looking statements. The
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words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “contemplate,” “target,” “plan,” “intends,” “continue,” “budget,” “estimate,” “may,”
“schedule” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, among other things,
statements regarding targets, estimates and assumptions in respect of gold production and prices, operating costs, results and capital
expenditures, mineral reserves and mineral resources and anticipated grades and recovery rates. Forward-looking statements are
necessarily based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that, while considered reasonable by the Company, are inherently
subject to significant business, economic, competitive, political and social uncertainties and contingencies. Many factors could cause
the Company’s actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements made by, or on
behalf of, the Company. Such factors include, among others, risks relating to additional funding requirements, reserve and resource
estimates, gold prices, exploration, development and operating risks, illegal miners, political and foreign risk, uninsurable risks,
competition, limited mining operations, production risks, environmental regulation and liability, government regulation, currency
fluctuations, recent losses and write-downs and dependence on key employees. See “Risk Factors” Due to risks and

uncertainties, including the risks and uncertainties identified above, actual events may differ materially from
current expectations. Investors are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and,
accordingly, investors are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements due to the inherent uncertainty therein.

Forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Management Discussion and Analysis and the Company disclaims any
intent or obligation to update publicly such forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
results or otherwise.
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CRYSTALLEX INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2004
(All dollar amounts in US dollars, unless otherwise stated)
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the audited financial condition and results of the
operations of Crystallex International Corporation (Crystallex or the Company) for the year ended December 31, 2004
should be read in conjunction with the Company’s annual audited consolidated financial statements and the notes
relating thereto. The audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Effective January 1, 2004, the Company prepares and files its
audited consolidated financial statements and MD&A in United States dollars. Except where noted, this MD&A has
been prepared as of March 28, 2005.

Highlights
Gold reserves at Las Cristinas increased to 12.8 million ounces by the end of 2004. Further drilling
commenced early 2005.
Las Cristinas detailed engineering 66% completed by year end; plan to substantially complete by
the end of the first quarter 2005.
Raised $182 million in debt and equity financings.
Cash and short investments total $134 million.
Settled gold sales contracts of 185,667 ounces during the year. Gold sales contracts reduced to
164,358 ounces at the end the year. Further settlements subsequent to year end have reduced the
number of outstanding contracts to approximately 111,000 ounces.
Net loss for the year of $60.7 million, or ($0.35) per share, inclusive of a non-cash write-down of
mineral properties of $32.0 million and a $1.0 million commodity contract loss.

Key Statistics
Operating Statistics
Gold Production (ounces)1
Gold Sold (ounces)
Per Ounce Data:
Total Cash Cost2
Average Realized Gold Price
Average Spot Gold Price
Gold Reserves (ounces)
Financial Results ($ 000’s)
Revenues
Net Loss
Net Loss per Basic Share
Cash Flow from Operating Activities3
Financial Position ($ 000’s)
Cash and Equivalents
Short-term investments
Restricted Cash and Equivalents
Total Debt
Shareholders’ Equity
Weighted Average Common Shares
Outstanding - Basic (millions)
1
2
3

2004

2003

2002

48,973
49,478

35,244
30,632

27,791
28,088

$365
$409
$410
12,939,400

$385
$363
$363
10,584,300

$346
$310
$310
10,465,100

$20,246
($60,654)
($0.35)
($36,005)

$11,329
($61,487)
($0.52)
($26,539)

$8,523
($36,134)
($0.43)
($2,936)

$5,767
$30,277
$98,006
$85,088
$143,554

$26,204
----$7,488
$78,998

$3,606
----$21,561
$52,601

172.2

118.3

84.4

Gold production is from continuing operations only, excluding production from the San Gregorio mine which was
sold in 2003.
For an explanation, refer to the section on Non-GAAP measures. The calculation is based on ounces of gold sold,
not ounces produced.
Cash flow after working capital changes and before capital expenditures.
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Financial Results Overview
The Company recorded a net loss of $60.7 million, or $0.35 per share in 2004, compared with a net loss of
$61.5 million or $0.52 per share in 2003. The net loss in 2004 includes mineral property and plant and
equipment write-downs of $32.0 million, a commodity contract loss of $1.0 million and a stock option based
compensation charge of $5.3 million. The net loss for the prior year included mineral property write-downs
of $17.5 million and a commodity contract loss of $16.5 million.
Revenue of $20.2 million in 2004 was significantly higher than $11.3 million of revenue in 2003. The
increase in revenue was attributable to a 62% increase in ounces of gold sold and to higher realized gold
prices. In 2004, the Company sold 49,478 ounces of gold at an average realized price of $409 per ounce,
while in 2003, 30,632 ounces of gold were sold at an average realized price of $363 per ounce. The
average spot gold price in 2004 was $410 per ounce, compared with $363 per ounce in 2003.
Operating cash flow was a deficit of $36.0 million in 2004, compared with a deficit of $26.5 million in 2003.
In 2004, mine site operating cash flow of $2.2 million was offset by expenditures of $19.1 million to
financially settle gold sales contracts and by $18.2 million of general and administrative expenses, which
were $1.8 million higher than 2003. Capital expenditures increased by $41.9 million to $50.9 million,
principally due to increased spending on Las Cristinas. The Company raised approximately $182 million in
debt and equity financings during 2004. At year end 2004, the unrestricted cash and short-term
investments balance was $36.0 million and the Company had restricted cash of $98.0 million.

Development Projects
Las Cristinas
Overview
In September 2002, the Company signed a Mining Operation Agreement (Agreement) with the Corporacion
Venezolana de Guayana (CVG) which granted Crystallex exclusive rights to develop and exploit the gold
deposits on the Las Cristinas property. A positive Feasibility Study was completed by SNC Lavalin
Engineers and Constructors Inc. (SNCL) in September 2003. The study was approved by the CVG in
March, 2004. An Engineering, Procurement and Construction Management (EPCM) contract to provide
services for the development of Las Cristinas was awarded to SNCL in March 2004.
An Environmental Impact Study (EIS) was submitted to the Ministry of the Environment and Natural
Resources (MARN) in April 2004 to initiate the project permitting process. In September 2004, a SocioEconomic Impact Assessment was completed by Proconsult C.A., of Venezuela and, also in September,
SNCL completed a construction phase Environmental Supervision Plan. Both reports were submitted to
the MARN. The process for obtaining the Permit to Impact Natural Resources (“Permit”) is continuing and
the Company is presently addressing normal course business technical and environmental clarifications
requested by the MARN. The Company’s efforts to obtain a speedy resolution to the permitting process
have been publicly supported by senior political officials. Based upon public representations by
Venezuelan officials, it is presently expected that the Permit will be issued by the end of the second quarter
of 2005.
2004 Progress and Ongoing Work
Capital expenditures of $40.7 million on Las Cristinas, inclusive of approximately $19 million of costs
directly related to project development.
Resource and Reserve Update
Resource and reserve estimates for Las Cristinas were updated in 2004 to reflect the results of drilling
completed by Crystallex in 2003 (2,199 metres) and 2004 (7,120 metres). At a $350 per ounce gold price,
reserves at Las Cristinas are now estimated at 333 million tonnes grading 1.2 grams per tonne, containing
12.8 million ounces of gold. The increase in reserves was due to including the results of the 2003 and
2004 infill drilling as well as using a gold price of $350 per ounce for the new estimate as opposed to $325
per ounce in the prior estimate. Of the 2.6 million ounce increase, approximately 71% is attributable to the
infill drilling and 29% is due to using the higher gold price. At a $400 per ounce gold price, reserves
2

increase to 387 million tonnes grading 1.2 grams per tonne, containing 13.94 million ounces of gold. The
Company is currently undertaking another infill drill program of approximately 5,000 metres at Las
Cristinas.
Control Budget Estimate and Improved Project Economics
During the first three months of the EPCM contract, Crystallex and SNCL undertook a comprehensive
review of the Las Cristinas capital costs to produce a project Control Budget. The review resulted in a
modest 9.5% increase in capital costs, from $242 million to $265 million of which approximately $11 million
related to discretionary investment items that reduced the project’s operating costs and improved the
project’s IRR. The principal positive impact on operating costs and overall project economics was achieved
by switching from contract mining to owner operated mining for saprolite ores. The balance of some $12
million reflected cost increases equating to a 5% increase on the $242 million feasibility study capital cost.
After incorporating the new reserve estimate of 12.8 million ounces and the results of the Control Budget
exercise, the project’s pre-tax, unleveraged IRR is 17.7% using a $350 per ounce gold price. Cash costs,
including royalties, are forecast to average $125 per ounce for the first five years and $206 per ounce for
the life of the project.
EPCM Progress
•

•
•

Procurement of equipment and awarding of service contracts is ongoing. At year end, 100 of a
total of 168 purchase orders and construction and service contracts had been awarded. By the
end of 2004, commitments related to purchase orders and contracts under the $265 million
Control Budget totalled $85 million, while actual expenditures were approximately $19 million.
Purchasing of certain bulk materials and supplies has been delayed until receipt of the Permit.
Engineering design was 66% completed by year end. By the end of February 2005,
engineering design had progressed to 82% completion, on target for 90% completion by the
end of March, 2005.
The Project Schedule will be updated upon receipt of the Permit. It is currently expected that
the development and construction period will be approximately 16 months from the date of the
issue of the Permit until the start of gold production.

Site Construction Activities
•
•
•
•
•

SODEXHO, the camp operator and caterer, recently completed the rehabilitation of the existing
construction camp. Upgrading of the dining hall continues.
The site administration offices were completed and SNCL and Crystallex staff are set up in the
offices.
Work continued on extending the existing airstrip at site from 545 metres to 1,000 metres.
Upgrading of the 19 kilometre site access road started in January 2005 and is expected to be
completed during the second quarter.
The earthworks contractor for the access road and river diversion channel commenced limited
activities including surveying, upgrading the access road and mobilization of some equipment.
Full mobilization will commence upon receipt of the Permit.

Project Recruiting
By year end, most senior positions were filled, including Manager Mining, Manager Process, Controller,
Environmental Superintendent and Community and Government Relations Manager. In addition, the
Electrical and Instrumentation and Mine Maintenance Superintendents have been recruited. A
procurement office was opened in Houston, Texas for procurement and freight forwarding of supplies and
equipment.
Additional Technical Studies
A comprehensive field investigation program was undertaken by SNCL during 2004 and reports were
completed by the end of the year. The program comprised three components: (i) geotechnical work, which
included drilling and test pitting, was undertaken to establish subsurface conditions and design parameters
for detailed engineering and construction of the project and focused in particular on the tailings
management facility and the process plant site, (ii) environmental and hydrogeological work, which
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included environmental drilling to collect baseline groundwater quality information from deep wells and
hydrogeological drilling to assist in determining and monitoring groundwater flows and allow for design
pumping rates during mining, and (iii) review of open pit slopes and waste dump stability.
Social Development Program
The Company is continuing with its program of developing a long-term partnership with the local
communities. The Company’s social development program is dedicated to supporting the communities
near Las Cristinas with long-term employment training, economic development, local infrastructure and
health care.
On-going programs include providing medicines to the local medical clinic, funding a scholarship program,
providing technical assistance to small-scale miners and providing regular maintenance services for the
local medical centre. In addition, Crystallex is continuing with community infrastructure programs. In 2004,
four programs were completed: i) 30 houses were constructed in the community of Santo Domingo, ii)
water treatment plants were installed and integrated for the benefit of eight communities, iii) a sewer
network was constructed in two communities and iv) the local road was upgraded and paved from KM 85
through Nuevas Claritas and Santo Domingo. The cost of the four infrastructure projects was
approximately $1.3 million. In 2005, Crystallex will commission two sewage treatment plants and connect
them to the new sewerage grid. The Company has also committed to a significant upgrading of the Las
Claritas Medical Centre. The budget for these two projects is approximately $825,000.
The Company is presently developing a Community Relations program. A Venezuelan firm, Plan Urbe,
has been engaged to carryout the design of a long term program for providing assistance to the local
communities. Plan Urbe will work from a local office to implement the social development plan.
Albino
On February 25, 2005, the Company announced that the Ministry of Energy and Mines (MEM) had
terminated the Company’s Albino rights. The decision was based upon a review by the MEM of properties
that are perceived to be inactive or non-compliant. The decision has been appealed by Crystallex to the
Ministry of Basic Industries and Mining (“MIBM”), which was created when the MEM was split into two new
ministries, the MIBM and the Ministry of Energy and Petroleum. However, due to the uncertainty of the
outcome of the appeal, the Company has written down the carrying value of its investment in the Albino
concession to nil. The Company has decided not to report any reserves or resources for Albino. The
decision to write down the value of Albino has also impacted the carrying value of the Revemin mill since
the initial ore produced from Albino was planned to be processed at Revemin.
Between 1994 and 1998, Crystallex operated a small open pit mine on the Albino concession.
Approximately 40,000 ounces were produced over the four year period. Operations were suspended in
1998 due to a depletion of the open pit ore reserves. A Feasibility Study completed in 2001, estimated
reserves of approximately 100,000 ounces and demonstrated the viability of developing a small
underground mine at Albino. In late 2004, Crystallex began development of the underground mine and in
mid February 2005 the Company received the Permit to Impact Natural Resources for open pit mining
which was required for Crystallex to sink the decline through the Saprolite zone. An application is in
process for a similar permit for underground mining in order to continue the decline into bedrock. Sinking
of the decline through the Saprolite zone has been suspended pending the outcome of the appeal process.
The Special Commission of the Permanent Commission of Energy and Mines in the National Assembly of
Venezuela has issued a report recommending that MIBM reconsider the termination of Crystallex’s Albino
concession.
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Operations Review
Production
Gold Production (ounces)
Tomi Open Pits
Tomi Underground
La Victoria
Purchased Material
Total Gold Production (ounces)
Total Ore Processed1 (tonnes)
Head Grade of Ore Processed (g/t)
Total Recovery Rate (%)
Total Recovered (ounces)
Total Cash Cost Per Ounce Sold
Mine Operating Cashflow ($,000)
Capital Expenditures ($,000)
1

2004
35,961
5,891
2,412
4,709
48,973
443,504
3.7
93%
48,973
$365
$2,208
$9,900

2003
24,360
2,753
5,564
2,567
35,244
370,276
3.5
84%
35,244
$385
($454)
$1,722

2002
2,347
0
22,548
2,896
27,791
366,909
3.0
79%
27,791
$346
($1,199)
$3,049

Ore from Tomi, La Victoria and purchased material is processed at the Company’s Revemin mill.

The Company achieved record gold production of almost 49,000 ounces from its Venezuelan operations in
2004. Production in 2004 was 39% higher than the 35,000 ounces produced in 2003. Almost all gold
production in 2004 was from the Tomi concession.
The production gains in 2004 are attributable to capital investment programs that commenced in the last
quarter of 2003 and continued throughout 2004. Capital funding was directed towards improving mine
equipment availability and utilization, a mill modernization program and re-stocking the warehouse of
critical spare parts. The capital investment programs allowed for a steady supply of ore to the Revemin mill
and improved mill availability from 85% in 2003 to 94% in 2004. Revemin processed twenty percent more
ore in 2004 than in 2003. Gold production was also higher in 2004, as a result of higher gold grades and
recoveries. Gold recovery in particular was almost 10% higher in 2004, averaging 93% for the year
compared with 84% in the previous year. The grade and recovery improvements are due to processing ore
almost entirely from the Tomi concession in 2004. Tomi ore is higher grade and does not have the
refractory characteristics of the La Victoria ore. La Victoria accounted for over one third of the ore
processed in the first nine months of 2003 and, on average, the La Victoria ore grade was 2.84 g/t and gold
recovery was 68%.
The mining operations generated cash flow of approximately $2.2 million in 2004, compared to a deficit of
$454,000 in 2003. After capital expenditures, mine site cash flow was a deficit of $7.7 million in 2004 and a
deficit of $2.2 million in 2003.
The Tomi and Lo Increible properties (where the La Victoria deposit is located) have considerable
exploration potential. Since the Company acquired the properties in 2000 and 2001 respectively, very little
exploration has been undertaken. The Company has commenced a concerted exploration program at both
properties in 2005. At Tomi, potential exists along the down plunge extension of the existing underground
mine and below the existing pits. On Lo Increible, a string of gold showings have been identified.
Metallurgical testwork has commenced on samples to assist in prioritizing drill targets and a drill program is
planned for the second half of 2005.
The Company is currently assessing the viability of maintaining gold production at the Revemin mill during
the comprehensive exploration program, which will continue throughout 2006. In particular, a review has
commenced of operating the Revemin mill at a reduced rate in 2006 when ore will likely only be available
from the Tomi underground mine. Proven and probable reserves at the Tomi underground only support a
mine life of approximately two years although the mineralized system is known to extend well beyond these
limits. Although Crystallex expects that the Tomi underground mine will, as is typical of most such mines,
continue to replace reserves for years to come, the carrying value of the Revemin mill has been written
down by $13.8 million to a carrying value that reflects its conservatively estimated two year useful life.
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Tomi
100% Basis
Tomi Open Pits (100% Crystallex)
Tonnes Ore Mined
Tonnes Waste Mined
Tonnes Ore Processed
Average Grade of Ore Processed (g/t)
Recovery Rate (%)
Production (ounces)
Tomi Underground (100% Crystallex)
Tonnes Ore Mined
Tonnes Ore Processed
Average Grade of Ore Processed (g/t)
Recovery Rate (%)
Production (ounces)

2004

2003

2002

334,289
2,751,124
350,008
3.46
92%
35,961

268,169
919,137
247,644
3.48
88%
24,360

25,644
2,908
27,998
3.01
87%
2,347

26,966
28,454
6.89
94%
5,891

12,698
11,070
8.31
93%
2,753

0
0
0
0
0

The Tomi concession accounted for 41,852 ounces, or 85%, of total gold production in 2004. Of this,
approximately 36,000 ounces were from the two open pit mines and the balance from the underground
mine. Open pit production was 48% higher in 2004, compared with 2003, as the Company did not move all
open pit production to Tomi until the end of the third quarter of 2003 when operations were suspended at
the La Victoria mine. Ore reserves at the open pit operations are expected to be depleted by the end of
2005. As a result the carrying value of Tomi has been written down by $3.6 million reflecting these limited
reserves. An exploration drilling program is planned for 2005 to test for mineralization below the pit floors.
The Tomi underground mine produced 5,891 ounces in 2004, compared with 2,753 ounces in 2003. Full
production of approximately 200 tonnes of ore per day is forecast by the third quarter of 2005.
La Victoria
100% Basis
La Victoria (51% Crystallex)1
Tonnes Ore Mined
Tonnes Waste Mined
Tonnes Ore Processed
Average Grade of Ore Processed (g/t)
Recovery Rate (%)
Production (ounces)
1

2004

2003

2002

36,012
481,210
25,974
3.18
91%
2,412

86,078
461,163
89,025
2.8
68%
5,564

333,857
937,949
326,572
2.8
76%
22,548

Crystallex owns 100% of 0702259 B.C. Ltd. which in turn has an indirect 51% equity interest in Lo Increible
(including the La Victoria deposit) through the Venezuelan holding company, Osmin Holdings Limited. Crystallex
has a 75% share of the cashflow until the total debt from Osmin due indirectly to Crystallex is fully repaid and a
51% share thereafter. Presently, there is no distributable cashflow, and Crystallex reports all production and
reserves for its account.

In February 2005, Micon International completed a Pre-Feasibility Study of the La Victoria deposit based on
construction of a Bio-Oxidation (BIOX) plant at the Company’s Revemin mill to treat refractory ore at La
Victoria. Goldfields, Hatch Associates and John Goode and Associates undertook the metallurgy and
processing sections of the Pre-Feasibility Study. A BIOX pilot plant was operated at Goldfields in South
Africa which confirmed the amenability of the refractory La Victoria ore to the BIOX process and indicated
that gold recovery from the refractory ore can be improved from approximately 60% using conventional
cyanidation to 88% when pre-treated with the BIOX process. The Company also completed approximately
8,600 meters of drilling at La Victoria in 2004 and Mine Development Associates updated the La Victoria
resource model.
Although the pilot plant demonstrated that the BIOX process was technically feasible, the Pre-Feasibility
Study determined that it was not economic to construct a 1,000 tpd BIOX plant for treating the La Victoria
ore. There is insufficient mineralized material to recover the required capital investment of $18.6 million for
the BIOX plant and approximately $4 million for the Yuruari River diversion and pre-production waste
stripping. Incorporating the results from the 2004 drill program, MDA estimated an indicated resource of
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2.5 million tonnes grading 4.4 grams per tonne containing 359,000 ounces, of which 176,000 ounces was
estimated by MDA as being extractable given the BIOX operating cost forecasts. This amount of
extractable ounces could not economically support the capital and operating costs associated with the
BIOX process assessed. As the BIOX project was uneconomic no reserves are reported. A smaller (500
tpd) BIOX plant was considered, which reduced the plant capital to approximately $12 million. However,
the project was still not economically viable.
The Company is currently evaluating an alternative processing option for the La Victoria sulphide material
which contemplates a flotation plant followed by sale of a concentrate to either a smelter or another plant
that requires sulphide concentrate. A report evaluating this alternative is expected to be completed during
the second quarter of 2005. In addition, exploration is being conducted for a possible extension of the La
Victoria orebody that has been potentially displaced by faulting.

Income Statement
Revenue
Revenue in 2004 was $20.2 million, compared with $11.3 million in 2003. The increase in revenue in 2004
was attributable to selling over 60% more gold than the prior year and realizing a higher average price on
gold sales. Gold sales in 2004 were 49,478 ounces, compared with 30,632 in 2003. The increase in
ounces sold was due to higher gold production as described in the Operations Review section of this
MD&A. The Company realized an average gold sales price of $409 per ounce in 2004 and $363 per ounce
in 2003. Spot gold prices averaged $410 per ounce in 2004 and $363 per ounce in 2003. Crystallex
presently sells all its gold to the Venezuelan Central Bank and receives the prevailing spot gold price. Gold
sales proceeds are received in local currency and are used to fund ongoing operations and capital projects
in Venezuela.
Operating Expenses
The Company’s total cash costs of production include mining, processing, mine administration, royalties
and production taxes and exclude corporate general and administrative expenses, depreciation and
depletion, financing costs, capital costs, exploration and reclamation accruals.
The Company’s costs of sales for 2004 were $18.0 million, compared with $11.8 million in 2003, as more
ounces of gold were produced and sold in 2004 than in 2003. Gold sales were 49,478 ounces in 2004,
compared with 30,632 ounces in 2003.
Operating costs in 2004 are higher than 2003 due to a substantial increase in mining and processing
activity as described in the Operations Review section of this MD&A. A total of 3.6 million tonnes of
material (waste and ore) was mined in 2004 and 444,000 tonnes of ore were processed, compared with 1.7
million tonnes of material mined and 370,000 tonnes of ore processed in 2003.
On a unit cost basis, total cash costs were $365 per ounce of gold sold in 2004, compared with $385 per
ounce in 2003. Although unit costs decreased in 2004 as a result of productivity improvements and higher
ore grades and gold recovery, the cost per ounce remained high as a result of the significant amount of
waste rock mined. The strip ratio (the ratio of waste mined to ore mined) at the Tomi open pits averaged
8.2: 1.0 in 2004, compared with 3.4: 1.0 in 2003. Also, at La Victoria, only 2,414 ounces of gold were
produced as mining was concentrated on waste stripping, which continued while the Bio-Oxidation PreFeasibility Study was undertaken.
Excluding La Victoria, the Company’s operating costs were
approximately $331 per ounce.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and Administrative expenses were $18.2 million in 2004, compared with $16.4 million in 2003.
Adjusting for one-time charges of approximately $2.1 million in 2004 and $5.0 million in 2003, the yearover-year increase in general and administrative expenses was $3.9 million. Expenses in 2004 reflect an
increase in corporate activity related to the ongoing development of the Las Cristinas property.
Compensation, professional fees and travel were approximately $3.0 million higher in 2004 than in 2003.
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Included in the 2004 total are one-time charges of $2.1 million related to the settlement of prior years’ taxes
and related penalties in Venezuela. Costs in 2003 included one-time bonus payments of approximately
$2.4 million.
Forward Sales and Written Call Options
Crystallex made considerable progress during 2004 towards its objective of eliminating existing gold sales
commitments. By December 31, 2004, the Company reduced its gold contracts by over 50%, or 185,667
ounces. At year end, 164,358 ounces remained committed under forward sales and call option contracts.
During 2004, the Company expended cash of $19.1 million to financially settle gold contracts at an average
price of $399 per ounce.
At December 31, 2004, the Company’s gold contract position totalled 164,358 ounces, comprising 82,426
ounces of fixed forward contracts and 81,932 ounces of call options. The average contract price is US$307
per ounce.
Fixed Forward Gold Sales (ounces)
Average Price (US$/ounce)
Written Gold Call Options (ounces)
Average Exercise Price (US$/ounce)
Total (ounces)
Average Price (US$/ounce)

2005
42,430
$305
79,932
$307
122,362
$306

2006
39,996
$310
2,000
$348
41,996
$312

Total
82,426
$307
81,932
$308
164,358
$307

In January 2005, the Company settled financially 53,440 contract ounces maturing in 2005 at a cost of $6.8
million. After these settlements, the Company’s gold contract position was reduced to 110,918 ounces.
Accounting for Derivative Instruments
The Company’s existing forward sales and call options are designated as derivatives so they do not qualify
for the normal sales exemption (or hedge accounting) for accounting treatment. The Company’s metal
trading contracts are recorded on the Balance Sheet at their mark-to-market value. Crystallex has no offbalance sheet gold contracts. Changes in the mark-to-market value of derivatives are recorded on the
Balance Sheet and are recorded in earnings as an unrealized commodity contract gain (loss) in the
Statement of Operations. The gains and losses occur as a result of changes in commodity prices and
interest rates.
The variation in the mark-to-market value of options and forwards from period to period can cause
significant volatility in earnings. The commodity contract loss in 2004 was $1.0 million. This included an
unrealized gain of $18.1 million offset by a realized loss of $19.1 million. The unrealized gain represents
the reduction in the mark-to-market value of the Company’s gold contract obligations since December 31,
2003, while the realized loss reflects the cash cost during the year of financially settling 185,667 ounces of
gold contract obligations.
Mark-to-Market
At December 31, 2004, the unrealized mark-to-market value of the Company’s gold forward sales and call
options, calculated at the year end spot price of US$436 per ounce was negative $22.6 million. This markto-market value is recorded on the Balance Sheet as a liability (Commodity Contract Obligations) and
represents the replacement value of these contracts based upon the spot gold price at December 31, 2004
and does not represent an obligation for payment. The Company’s obligations under the forward sales
contracts are to deliver an agreed upon quantity of gold at a predetermined price by the maturity date of the
contract, while delivery obligations under the call options sold are contingent upon the price of gold and will
take effect if the gold price is above the strike price of the relevant contract at its maturity date and the
option is exercised by the option holder.
In circumstances where the Company is unable to meet the obligations under the fixed forward sales or call
options, the Company may negotiate with the counterparty to defer the expiry date of the forward sale or
call option, or purchase gold in the market, or settle the positions financially. If the Company were to
purchase gold in the market or settle financially the contracts, it would result in a reduction of the
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Company’s cash. The table below illustrates the cash requirement if the Company had to financially settle
all contract positions in excess of planned production. Future production from Las Cristinas is excluded.
The analysis assumes the Company is unable to roll existing contracts to future periods and all positions in
excess of planned production are required to be settled financially at December 31, 2004 using the spot
gold price on that day of US$436 per ounce.
US$ millions
Total ounces Committed
Planned Production1
Excess Committed Ounces
Average Committed Price (US$/oz)
Average Assumed Spot Price (US$/oz)
Cash Required to Settle Excess Positions
1

2005
122,362
53,000
69,362
$306
$436
$9.0

2006
41,996
29,000
12,996
$312
$436
$1.6

Total
164,358
82,000
82,358
$307
$436
$10.6

Production forecast excludes Las Cristinas and assumes no gold production from La Victoria and Albino in 2005
and 2006.

The Company cautions readers not to place undue reliance on the projected production figures illustrated
above. As noted under “Forward Looking Statements” in the Company’s Annual Report, predictions and
forecasts involve inherent risks and uncertainties. A number of factors could cause actual results to differ
from plans.
Write-down of Property, Plant and Equipment
The Company annually performs property evaluations to assess the recoverability of its mining properties.
Impairment evaluations compare the undiscounted forecast future cash flow from each operation with its
carrying value and where the cash flows are less, a write-down to estimated fair value is recorded. In
2004, Crystallex incurred write-downs of mineral properties and plant and equipment of $32.0 million. Of
this amount, $13.8 million, was attributed to writing down the carrying value of the Revemin mill to reflect
the two year estimated life of reserves to be processed at the mill.
Mineral property write-downs included the Albino concession ($10.4 million) Tomi Concession ($3.6 million)
and three exploration properties ($4.1 million). See “Operations Review”.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Crystallex’s principal sources of liquidity have been equity and debt financings. The Company does not
expect to generate positive operating cashflow (after corporate general and administrative expenses) until
the Las Cristinas project is operating at full capacity. Crystallex forecasts cash requirements in excess of
$300 million through 2006 to build Las Cristinas, fund the Company’s operating deficit, fund capital
expenditures at the El Callao operations and for debt service. Crystallex intends to fund this overall
requirement with existing cash and restricted cash balances and from a combination of limited recourse
project debt financing, other forms of public market debt financing and equity.
Cash and Equivalents
Cash and short-term investments were $36.0 million at December 31, 2004. In addition, the Company had
restricted cash and cash equivalents of $98.0 million at year end 2004. The restricted funds are comprised
of the following: i) $2.5 million held on deposit with Mitsui & Co. Precious Metals Inc. as margin for gold call
option contracts and ii) $95.5 million net proceeds of a senior unsecured note financing held in escrow
under the terms of the Escrow Agreement (see Financing Activities). The proceeds are released to pay for
approved capital expenditures for the development of Las Cristinas ($81.4 million) and for interest
payments on the senior unsecured notes ($14.1 million).
The timing of cash expenditures is, in part, dependent upon receipt of the Permit for Las Cristinas.
Assuming receipt of the Permit for Las Cristinas by the end of the second quarter, restricted cash balances
of $81.4 million at December 31, 2004 are forecast to provide sufficient funding for Las Cristinas until the
third quarter of 2005. Any delay in receiving the Permit will delay planned expenditures.
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The change in the cash balance during 2004 is reconciled as follows:
$ millions
$26.2

Cash at December 31, 2003
Common Share Financing Activities
9.375% Note Financing Net Proceeds
Proceeds from the sale of San Gregorio
Proceeds from orderly disposition of shares
Total Sources of Cash

$ 98.2
95.5
1.6
3.9
$199.2

Operating Cash Flow Deficit
Capital Expenditures – Las Cristinas
Capital Expenditures – Other Operations
Debt Service
Financing Fees
Total Uses of Cash

($36.0)
( 40.7)
( 10.2)
( 1.0)
( 3.5)
($91.4)

Net Addition to Cash, Short-term Investments and Restricted Cash
Cash, Short-term Investments and Restricted Cash at December 31, 2004

$107.8
$134.0

Cash Flow from Operations
Cash flow from operations (before capital expenditures) is principally affected by general and administrative
expenditures, cash expenditures on reducing the Company’s gold sales commitments, the level of gold
sales, realized gold prices, cash operating costs, and movements in non-cash working capital. Cash flow
from operations was a deficit of $36.0 million in 2004, compared with a deficit of $26.5 million the year
earlier. Positive mine operating cash flow of $2.2 million in 2004 was offset principally by cash used for
general and administrative expenses ($18.2 million) and for settling gold contract positions ($19.1 million).
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures totalled $50.9 million in 2004, compared with $9.0 million in 2003. The increase is
attributable to higher spending on Las Cristinas and, to a lesser extent, on the Tomi underground mine and
the Revemin mill. Capital expenditures for Las Cristinas totalled $40.7 million in 2004 and included
expenditures for project development under the EPCM contract and also for general site costs, site
security, environmental work, including geotechnical drilling, and legal and professional fees associated
with tax structuring and project financing.
Capital expenditures for 2004 and 2003 are summarized as follows:
($ millions)

2004
$40.7
5.3
3.8
0.8
--0.3
$50.9

Las Cristinas
Revemin
Tomi
Albino
La Victoria
Corporate
Total

2003
$7.3
1.0
0.4
--0.3
--$9.0

Assuming a receipt of the Permit during the second quarter, capital expenditures at Las Cristinas are
forecast to be approximately $175 million in 2005 of which $85 million has been committed as at
December 31, 2004. As noted, any delay in receiving the Permit will delay planned expenditures.
Financing Activities
On December 23, 2004, the Company completed a $100 million unit offering. Each unit was priced at
$1,000 and comprised a $1,000 principal amount, seven year, 9.375% senior unsecured note and 65
common shares of the Company. The net proceeds received by the Company were $95.5 million. The net
proceeds were deposited with an Escrow Agent and were divided into two pools: the Interest Pool and the
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Project Pool. The Interest Pool contains proceeds equal to the first three interest payments on the notes
($14.1 million). Funds will be released from the Interest Pool as the Company makes each of the first three
interest payments. Funds from the Project Pool ($81.4 million) will be released to pay for approved capital
expenditures contemplated in the Las Cristinas Control Budget of $265 million.
On April 5, 2004, the Company closed an equity financing of 25 million common shares at C$4.00 per
share raising net proceeds of $71.7 million. The common share financing had an over-allotment option of
3.75 million shares at C$4.00 per share, which closed on April 28, 2004 and raised additional net proceeds
of $10.5 million. Total net proceeds amounted to $82.2 million.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The Company’s contractual obligations and commitments, as a December 31, 2004, are tabled below:
US$ millions
Long Term Debt Repayments
Equipment and Construction
Purchase Contracts
Asset Retirement Obligations
Operating Lease Obligations
Precious Metal Contracts:
Fixed Forward Contracts

Less than
One Year
$4.4

1 - 3 Years
$2.1

4 - 5 Years
---

More Than
5 Years
$100.0

Total
$106.5

$85.0
$0.5
$0.16

--$1.0
$0.38

--$0.8
$0.04

-------

$85.0
$2.3
$0.58

42,430 oz
@ an
average of
US$305/oz
79,932 oz
@ an
average of
US$307/oz

39,996 oz
@ an
average of
US$310/oz
2,000 oz
@ an
average of
US$348/oz

---

---

---

---

82,426 oz
@ an
average of
US$307/oz
81,932 oz
@ an
average of
US$308/oz

Call Options Sold

In addition, the Company has royalty commitments that are only payable if gold is produced. There is no
obligation to make payments if gold is not produced. Currently, the Company’s only gold production is from
the Tomi concession, which is subject to a 1.75% royalty on gold revenue. All gold production in
Venezuela is subject to an exploitation tax, established under the Mining Law, which is payable to the
Republic. The exploitation tax is presently 3% of gold revenue.

Related Party Transactions
During 2004, Crystallex entered into the following material transactions with related parties:
Legal Fees
•

McMillan Binch LLP: McMillan Binch LLP provides legal services to the Company. David Matheson
is counsel to McMillan Binch LLP and a member of the Board of Directors of Crystallex. During
2004, McMillan Binch LLP was paid $1.2 million for providing corporate legal services to Crystallex.

Management and Consulting Fees
•

•

Orion Securities Inc.: Orion Securities Inc. is an investment dealer that provided underwriting
services to the Company in connection with the 2004 issuances of equity and debt underwriting.
Mr. Robert Fung is an employee of Orion Securities Inc. and is Chairman of the Board of Directors
of Crystallex. During 2004, Orion was paid $2.8 million for these services, none of which was to
the benefit of Mr. Fung.
Osprey Capital Partners: During 2004, Crystallex paid $148,000 to Osprey Capital Partners, a
partnership in which Robert Fung is a minority partner. The payments to Osprey Capital Partners
by Crystallex were for investment banking counselling provided by other partners of Osprey Capital
Partners and Mr. Fung. This advice was unrelated to Mr. Fung’s role as Chairman of Crystallex.
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•
•

Riccio Consulting: Dr. Luca Riccio is the former Vice President, Exploration and the principal of
Riccio Consulting. During 2004, Crystallex paid $220,500 to Riccio Consulting for providing
consulting services to the Company.
Capital Markets Advisory Inc.: Michael Brown is the principal of Capital Markets Advisory Inc. and a
member of the Board of Directors of Crystallex. During 2004, Crystallex paid $32,800 to Capital
Markets Advisory Inc. for providing investor relations and other corporate advisory services to the
Company.

Outstanding Share Data
At March 1, 2005, 190,853,437 common shares of Crystallex were issued and outstanding. In addition, at
March 1, 2005 options to purchase 10,555,050 common shares of Crystallex were outstanding under the
Company’s stock option plan and warrants to purchase 12,983,235 common shares of Crystallex were
issued and outstanding.

Quarterly Data

Revenue
Net Income
(Loss)
1

Q4
5,037
(44,115)

2004
Q3
Q21
5,632
5,634
(9,441)
(447)

Q1
3,943
(6,651)

Q4
4,655
(38,071)

2003
Q3
Q2
2,809
2,508
(24,322)
(3,537)

Q1
1,357
4,443

Reflects adjustment of $3.96 million relating to revised accounting treatment of gain derived from Standard Bank
orderly disposition agreement.

Revenue for the fourth quarter of 2004 was positively impacted by higher gold production and higher gold
prices. Net income in the fourth quarter of 2004 reflects the impact of a $32.0 million write-down of mineral
properties and property plant and equipment in 2004 compared with a write-down of $17.5 million in the
corresponding period in 2003.
The quarterly trends are consistent with the explanations of the annual trends set out in this MD&A.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Critical accounting estimates are those estimates that have a high degree of uncertainty and for which
changes in those estimates could materially impact the Company’s results. Critical accounting estimates
for the Company include property evaluations, capitalization of exploration and development costs and
commodity derivative contracts.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principals generally accepted in
Canada requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of asset
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets at the date of the consolidated financial statements.
Significant estimates used herein include those relating to gold prices, recoverable proven and probable
reserves, available resources, fair values of commodity derivative contracts, (principally fixed forward
contracts and written call options) available operating capital and required reclamation costs. Among other
things, these estimates each affect management’s evaluation of asset impairment and the recorded
balances of inventories, site closure and reclamation and remediation obligations. It is reasonably possible
that actual results could differ in the near term from these and other estimates used in preparing these
financial statements and such differences could be material.
Property Evaluations
The Company reviews and evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amounts of all its producing
properties and related plant and equipment annually or when events and changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Estimated net future cashflows, on an
undiscounted basis, are calculated using estimated recoverable ounces of gold (considering current proven
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and probable reserves), estimated future commodity price realization (considering historical and current
prices, price trends and related factors), operating costs, future capital expenditures, project financing
costs, reclamation costs and income taxes. Reductions in the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment, with corresponding charges to earnings, are recorded to the extent that the estimated future
discounted net cashflows are less than the carrying amount.
Capitalization of Exploration and Development Costs
Mineral exploration costs such as topographical, geochemical, and geophysical studies are capitalized and
carried at cost until the properties to which they relate are placed into production, sold, or where
management has determined there to be a permanent impairment in value. Development costs incurred to
access ore bodies identified in the current mining plan are expensed as incurred after production has
commenced. Development costs necessary to extend a mine beyond those areas identified in the current
mining plan and which are incurred to access additional reserves are deferred until the incremental
reserves are mined. Mineral properties and development costs, including the mineral acquisition and direct
mineral exploration costs relating to the current mining plan are depleted and amortized using the units-ofproduction method over the estimated life of the ore body based on proven and probable reserves.
Commodity Derivative Contracts
The Company uses commodity derivative contracts, principally fixed forward contracts and written call
options, to economically hedge exposure to fluctuations in the market price of gold. These instruments are
not designated as hedges for accounting purposes and are carried on the balance sheet under the captions
Commodity Contract Obligations at estimated fair market value.
Premiums received at the inception of written call options are initially recognized on the balance sheet as a
liability. Unrealized gains or losses arising from changes in the fair market value of the liability related to
both fixed forward contracts and written call options and realized gains/losses on commodity derivative
contracts which are either settled financially or through physical delivery, are recognized in the statement of
operations in the period of the change or settlement as commodity contract loss/gain.
Accounting Changes
Change in Functional and Reporting Currency – Effective January 1, 2004, the Company changed its
functional currency from the Canadian to US dollar. Concurrent with this change, the Company adopted
the US dollar as its reporting currency. Refer to Note 2 of Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements.
Asset Retirement Obligations – On January 1, 2004, the Company adopted CICA Handbook Section 3110
and changed its accounting policy recognizing the fair value of liabilities for asset retirement obligations in
the period incurred. There was no material impact in 2004 as a result of this change. Refer to Note 3 of
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements.
Stock Based Compensation – Effective January 1, 2004, the Company changed its accounting policy for
stock-based compensation and adopted the fair value method of accounting for all its stock-based
compensation. Refer to Note 3 of the Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements. Total
expenses in 2004 were $5.3 million.
Impairment of Long Lived Assets – Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted the new
recommendations with respect to impairment of long lived assets. There was no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 3 of the Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Risk Factors
Arbitration Proceedings
The Corporation is a party to or is interested in two arbitration proceedings. See “Legal Proceedings” in the
Corporation’s 2004 AIF filed concurrently on SEDAR and EDGAR for a detailed description of the
arbitration proceedings.
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The Corporation is not a party to the Vannessa arbitration proceedings and cannot predict the outcome of
these proceedings (including whether any arbitration award could have a material adverse effect on the
Corporation’s rights under the Agreement). See “Legal Proceedings” in the Corporation’s 2004 AIF.
The Corporation is a party to the Vengroup arbitration proceedings and cannot predict the outcome of
these proceedings (including whether any arbitration award could have a material adverse affect on the
Corporation). See “Legal Proceedings” in the Corporation’s 2004 AIF.
Lack of Ownership Rights
Under Venezuelan law, all mineral resources belong to the Republic of Venezuela. In accordance with the
VML, the Government of Venezuela has reserved for itself the right to directly explore and exploit the Las
Cristinas Deposits and has elected to do so through the CVG. See “Las Cristinas Project – Mine Operation
Agreement”. The Mine Operation Agreement is an operation agreement and does not transfer any
property ownership rights to the Corporation. Rather, the Corporation has been authorized to exploit the
Las Cristinas Deposits for the CVG in accordance with to the Mine Operation Agreement. The interests of
the Corporation in the Las Cristinas Deposits are contingent upon the Corporation continuing to satisfy its
obligations under the Mine Operation Agreement. Failure to do so could result in the CVG having the right
to terminate the Mine Operation Agreement.
Lack of Copper Rights
In addition to gold, the Las Cristinas Deposits contain copper. Under the Mine Operation Agreement, the
Corporation is only entitled to exploit the gold contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits. Based on the
feasibility studies carried out by the Corporation and following discussions with the CVG, the Corporation
has determined that exploiting the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits would detract from the
economics of the Las Cristinas Project. The Corporation does not need the right to exploit the copper
contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits in order to exploit the gold and does not currently intend to
negotiate with the CVG for the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits.
Although the Corporation does not believe that the MIBM would do so, the MIBM retains the right to grant
exploitation and other rights with respect to the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits to the CVG
or a third party. The Corporation has been advised by its Venezuelan counsel that:
(a)

if the MIBM grants the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits to the CVG,
subject to fulfilling all necessary requirements of Venezuelan law (including the additional grant by
the MIBM to the CVG of the right to negotiate the exploitation of the copper with third parties), the
CVG has agreed under the terms of the Mine Operation Agreement to negotiate the exploitation of
the copper with the Corporation; and

(b)

if the MIBM grants the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits to a third
party, the Corporation’s right under the Mine Operation Agreement to exploit the gold contained in
the Las Cristinas Deposits would, as a matter of Venezuelan law, take precedence over the third
party’s right to exploit the copper.

If the MIBM grants the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits to the CVG, there
can be no assurance that the MIBM will grant to the CVG the additional right to negotiate the exploitation of
the copper with third parties or that the Corporation will be able to negotiate an agreement with respect to
the exploitation of the copper with the CVG. Also, if the MIBM grants the right to exploit the copper
contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits to a third party, or if the MIBM grants the right to exploit the copper
contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits to the CVG and the CVG grants the right to exploit the copper to a
third party, there can be no assurance that the Corporation will be successful under Venezuelan law in
asserting that its right to exploit the gold contained in the Las Cristinas Deposits takes precedence over the
third party’s right to exploit the copper.
Additional Funding Requirements
Under the terms of the Mine Operation Agreement, the Corporation is required, among other things, to
make all necessary investments and complete all works necessary to reactivate the Las Cristinas Deposits,
to design, construct and operate a processing plant to process gold for its subsequent commercialization
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and sale and to return the mine, its installations and equipment to the CVG upon termination of the Mine
Operation Agreement. In order to carry out the Las Cristinas Project and its other mining projects, the
Corporation will need to raise substantial additional financing which may include one or more of nonrecourse project debt, other forms of public market debt and equity.
The Corporation currently has limited financial resources and there can be no assurance that sufficient
additional financing will be available to the Corporation on acceptable terms or at all. Failure to obtain such
additional financing could result in a delay or the indefinite postponement of the Las Cristinas Project and
other mining projects of the Corporation and could also result in the Corporation defaulting in the
performance of its obligations under the Mine Operation Agreement.
Reserves and Resource Estimates
The Corporation’s reported mineral reserves and resources are estimates only. As a result, there can be
no assurance that they will be recovered at the rates estimated or at all. Mineral reserve and resource
estimates are based on limited sampling and are uncertain because the samples may not be
representative. Mineral reserve and resource estimates may require revision (either up or down) based on
actual production experience. Market fluctuations in the price of metals, increased production costs or
reduced recovery rates may render estimated mineral reserves and resources uneconomic and may
ultimately result in a restatement of mineral reserves and resources. In addition, short-term operating
factors, such as the need for sequential development of ore bodies and the processing of new or different
ore grades, may adversely affect the Corporation’s profitability in any particular accounting period. If its
mineral reserve and resource estimates are incorrect, the Corporation will not correctly allocate its financial
resources, causing it either to spend too much on what could be a less than economic deposit or to fail to
mine what could be a significant deposit.
Title to Mineral Properties
Acquisition of title to mineral properties is a very detailed and time-consuming process. Title to, and the
area of, mineral properties may be disputed or impugned. Although the Corporation has investigated its
title to the mineral properties for which it holds concessions or mineral leases or licenses, there can be no
assurance that the Corporation has valid title to such mineral properties or that its title thereto will not be
challenged or impugned. For example, mineral properties sometimes contain claims or transfer histories
that examiners cannot verify; and transfers under foreign law often are complex. The Corporation does not
carry title insurance with respect to its mineral properties. A successful claim that the Corporation does not
have title to a mineral property could cause the Corporation to lose its rights to mine that property, perhaps
without compensation for its prior expenditures relating to the property. Furthermore, as noted above
under “Lack of Ownership Rights”, the Mine Operation Agreement does not transfer any property
ownership rights to the Corporation.
Gold Price Volatility May Affect Profitability
The gold price can fluctuate widely and is affected by numerous factors beyond the Corporation’s control,
including industrial and jewelry demand, inflation and expectations with respect to the rate of inflation, the
strength of the U.S. dollar and other currencies, interest rates, gold sales by central banks, forward sales
by producers, global or regional political or financial events, and production and cost levels in major goldproducing regions. The gold price is also subject to rapid short-term changes due to speculative activities.
During the period 1998 to 2004, the gold price fluctuated between a low of U.S.$253 and a high of
U.S.$454. On December 31, 2004, the p.m. fixing price of gold sold in the London Bullion Market was
U.S.$436.
The Corporation’s revenues, cash flow and profitability are significantly affected by changes in the gold
price. If the gold price declines below the cost of production at any of the Corporation’s operations for a
significant period, the Corporation may be required to suspend or terminate production at the affected
operation. In addition, the Corporation may be required to restate its mineral reserves and resources, write
down its investment and increase or accelerate reclamation and closure charges at the affected operation.
Any of these developments could negatively affect the Corporation’s profitability, cash flows and financial
position. Accordingly, even if the Corporation discovers and produces gold, there can be no assurance that
the gold price will be high enough to enable the Corporation to sell the gold produced by it profitably.
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The market price of the common shares of the Corporation is also affected by fluctuations in the gold price.
Gold Hedging Activities
The Corporation has entered into forward contracts and written call options to sell a significant portion of
the gold that it anticipates it will produce at its existing operations. These contracts obligate the
Corporation to sell specified quantities of gold at a prices set when it enters into the contracts, regardless of
the price when the Corporation actually mines the gold. Accordingly, there is a risk that the price of gold
will be higher at the time the Corporation mines the gold than when it entered into the contracts, with the
result that the Corporation must sell the gold at a lower price than it would have received had it not entered
into the contracts. In addition, if the Corporation is not able to produce the specified quantities of gold, it
will be required to buy gold at market prices to satisfy its contract obligations. These market prices may be
higher than the contract prices or higher than the Corporation’s own cost of production. In addition, the
entity contracting to buy gold from the Corporation under the forward contracts could default and, if the
contract price were higher than the market price at the time of default, the Corporation would not likely be
able to resell the contracted gold at the higher contract price.
Mineral Exploration and Exploitation
Mineral exploration and exploitation involves a high degree of risk. Few properties that are explored are
ultimately developed into producing mines. Unusual or unexpected formations, formation pressures, fires,
power outages, labour disruptions, flooding, explosions, tailings impoundment failures, cave-ins, landslides
and the inability to obtain adequate machinery, equipment or labour are some of the risks involved in
mineral exploration and exploitation activities. The Corporation has relied on and may continue to rely on
consultants and others for mineral exploration and exploitation expertise. Substantial expenditures are
required to establish mineral reserves and resources through drilling, to develop metallurgical processes to
extract the metal from the ore and, in the case of new properties, to develop the mining and processing
facilities and infrastructure at any site chosen for mining. There can be no assurance that the Corporation
will discover mineral reserves and resources in sufficient quantities to justify exploitation or that the funds
required to exploit any mineral reserves and resources discovered by the Corporation will be obtained on a
timely basis or at all. The economics of exploiting mineral reserves and resources discovered by the
Corporation are affected by many factors, many outside the control of the Corporation, including the cost of
operations, variations in the grade of ore mined and metals recovered, price fluctuations in the metal
markets, costs of processing equipment, continuing access to smelter facilities on acceptable terms and
other factors such as government regulations, including regulations relating to royalties, allowable
production, importing and exporting of minerals and environmental protection. There can be no assurance
that the Corporation’s mineral exploration and exploitation activities will be successful.
The Corporation’s operations may also be affected by the presence of illegal miners: something that is not
uncommon in the gold mining areas of the Guyana Shield area of Venezuela. Although the Corporation, in
conjunction with the local authorities, employs strategies to control the presence of illegal miners, there can
be no assurance that these strategies will be successful or that the Corporation’s operations will not be
adversely affected by the presence of illegal miners.
Country Risk
The Corporation’s mineral exploration and exploitation activities may be adversely affected by political
instability and legal and economic uncertainty in the countries where the Corporation has operations. The
risks associated with the Corporation’s foreign operations may include political unrest, labour disputes,
invalidation of governmental orders and permits, corruption, war, civil disturbances and terrorist actions,
arbitrary changes in laws, regulations and policies, taxation, price controls, exchange controls, delays in
obtaining or the inability to obtain necessary permits, opposition to mining from environmental or other nongovernmental organizations, limitations on foreign ownership, limitations on the repatriation of earnings,
limitations on mineral exports and increased financing costs. These risks may limit or disrupt the
Corporation’s projects or operations, restrict the movement of funds or result in the deprivation of
contractual rights or the taking of property by nationalization, expropriation or other means without fair
compensation.
The Corporation’s principal mineral properties are located in Venezuela. Venezuela currently has
exchange controls that affect the ability of companies doing business in Venezuela to convert Venezuelan
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source income into foreign currency. There can be no assurance that exchange controls will not continue
and, if they do, that they will not adversely affect the Corporation’s operations, including its ability to satisfy
its foreign currency obligations.
Uninsurable Risks
Mineral exploration and exploitation activities involve numerous risks, including unexpected or unusual
geological operating conditions, rock bursts, cave-ins, fires, floods, earthquakes and other environmental
occurrences and political and social instability. It is not always possible to obtain insurance against all such
risks and the Corporation may decide not to insure against certain risks as a result of high premiums or
other reasons. Should such liabilities arise, they could negatively affect the Corporation’s profitability and
financial position and the value of the common shares of the Corporation. The Corporation does not
maintain insurance against environmental risks.
Competition
The competition to discover and acquire mineral properties considered to have commercial potential is
intense. The Corporation competes with other mining companies, many of which have greater financial
resources than the Corporation, with respect to the discovery and acquisition of interests in mineral
properties and the recruitment and retention of qualified employees and other personnel to carry on its
mineral exploration and exploitation activities. There can be no assurance that the Corporation will be able
to successfully compete against such companies.
Limited Mining Operations
The Corporation’s Tomi operations and Revemin mill currently account for substantially all of the
Corporation’s mineral production and revenues. Any adverse development affecting these operations
would have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial performance and results of operations.
Production Risks
The Corporation prepares estimates of future production at its operations. Failure to meet these estimates
could adversely affect the corporation’s profitability, cash flows and financial position. There can be no
assurance that the Corporation will achieve its production estimates.
The Corporation’s actual production may vary from its estimates for a variety of reasons, including actual
ore mined varying from estimates of grade, tonnage, dilution and metallurgical and other characteristics;
short-term operating factors such as the need for sequential development of ore bodies and the processing
of new or different ore grades from those planned; mine failures, slope failures or equipment failures;
industrial accidents; natural phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods, droughts, rock
slides and earthquakes; encountering unusual or unexpected geological conditions; changes in power
costs and potential power shortages; shortages of principal supplies needed for operation, including
explosives, fuels, chemical reagents, water, equipment parts and lubricants; labour shortages or strikes;
civil disobedience and protests; and restrictions or regulations imposed by governmental or regulatory
authorities or other changes in the regulatory environments. Such occurrences could result in damage to
mineral properties, interruptions in production, injury or death to persons, damage to property of the
Corporation or others, monetary losses and legal liabilities. These factors may cause a mineral deposit
that has been mined profitably in the past to become unprofitable forcing the Corporation to cease
production. These factors also apply to the Corporation’s future operations. For example, it is not unusual
for new mining and processing operations to experience unexpected problems during the start-up phase.
Environmental Regulation and Liability
The Corporation’s activities are subject to laws and regulations controlling not only mineral exploration and
exploitation activities themselves but also the possible effects of such activities upon the environment.
Environmental legislation may change and make the mining and processing of ore uneconomic or result in
significant environmental or reclamation costs. Environmental legislation provides for restrictions and
prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions of various substances produced in association with certain
mineral exploitation activities, such as seepage from tailings disposal areas that could result in
environmental pollution. A breach of environmental legislation may result in the imposition of fines and
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penalties or the suspension or closure of operations. In addition, certain types of operations require the
submission of environmental impact statements and approval thereof by government authorities.
Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which may mean stricter standards and enforcement,
increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed
projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their directors, officers and
employees. Permits from a variety of regulatory authorities are required for many aspects of mineral
exploitation activities, including closure and reclamation. Future environmental legislation could cause
additional expense, capital expenditures, restrictions, liabilities and delays in the development of the
Corporation’s properties, the extent of which cannot be predicted. In the context of environmental permits,
including the approval of closure and reclamation plans, the Corporation must comply with standards and
laws and regulations which may entail costs and delays depending on the nature of the activity to be
permitted and how stringently the regulations are implemented by the permitting authority. The Corporation
does not maintain environmental liability insurance.
The Las Cristinas Deposits are located within the Imataca Forest Reserve. Presidential Decree 3.110,
which establishes an ordinance plan and regulations for the use of the Reserve, permits mining activities in
the Reserve and establishes the legal framework for such activities. Presidential Decree 3.110 replaced a
previous Presidential decree that was the subject of a legal challenge before the Venezuelan Supreme
Court. It is possible that Presidential Decree 3.110 could be similarly challenged and that such challenge, if
ultimately successful, could prevent the Corporation from exploiting or fully exploiting the Las Cristinas
Deposits.
Regulations and Permits
The Corporation’s activities are subject to wide variety of laws and regulations governing health and worker
safety, employment standards, waste disposal, protection of the environment, protection of historic and
archaeological sites, mine development and protection of endangered and protected species and other
matters. The Corporation is required to have a wide variety of permits from governmental and regulatory
authorities to carry out its activities. These permits relate to virtually every aspect of the Corporation’s
exploration and exploitation activities. Changes in these laws and regulations or changes in their
enforcement or interpretation could result in changes in legal requirements or in the terms of the
Corporation’s permits that could have a significant adverse impact on the Corporation’s existing or future
operations or projects. Obtaining permits can be a complex, time-consuming process. There can be no
assurance that the Corporation will be able to obtain the necessary permits on acceptable terms, in a timely
manner or at all. The costs and delays associated with obtaining permits and complying with these permits
and applicable laws and regulations could stop or materially delay or restrict the Corporation from
continuing or proceeding with existing or future operations or projects. Any failure to comply with permits
and applicable laws and regulations, even if inadvertent, could result in the interruption or closure of
operations or material fines, penalties or other liabilities.
Currency Fluctuations
Currency fluctuations may affect costs at the Corporation’s operations. Gold is sold throughout the world
based principally on a U.S. dollar price, but a portion of the Corporation’s operating expenses is in non-U.S.
dollar currencies. The appreciation of these non-U.S. dollar currencies against the U.S. dollar could
negatively affect the Corporation’s profitability, cash flows and financial position.
Recent Losses and Write-downs
The Corporation incurred net losses in 2004 and 2003 and after the restatement of its audited consolidated
financial statements for 2002 incurred net losses in each of 2002 and 2001. The Corporation’s profitability
depends, among other things, on the gold price, gold production and cash operating costs at its operations
and other factors discussed in this section of the Annual Information Form. Substantially all of these
factors are beyond the control of the Corporation. There can be no assurance that the Corporation will
return to profitability in the near future.
Credit Agreement Restrictions
The Corporation and an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation are parties to a credit
agreement that, among other things, requires the Corporation to maintain specific financial ratios and
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satisfy specific financial condition tests. Events beyond the control of the Corporation, including changes in
general economic and business conditions, may affect the Corporation’s ability to satisfy these ratios and
tests. Failure to do so could result in a default under the credit agreement. If an event of default occurs
under the credit agreement, the lender could elect to declare all principal amounts outstanding thereunder,
together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable and to enforce its security over
substantially all of the Tomi operations and the Revemin mill.
Dependence on Key Employees
The Corporation’s business and operations are dependent on retaining the services of a small number of
key employees. The success of the Corporation is, and will continue to be, to a significant extent,
dependent on the expertise and experience of these employees. The loss of one or more of these
employees could have a materially adverse effect on the Corporation. The Corporation does not maintain
insurance on any of its key employees.
Potential Dilution
As at December 31, 2004, the Corporation has outstanding options to purchase approximately 10.6 million
common shares of the Corporation and warrants to purchase approximately 13.0 million common shares of
the Corporation. The Corporation may also issue additional option and warrants or additional common
shares from time to time in the future. If it does so, the ownership interest of the Corporation’s then current
shareholders could also be diluted.
NON GAAP MEASURES
Total cash costs per ounce are calculated in accordance with the Gold Institute Production Cost Standard,
(the “Standard”). The total cash cost per ounce data are presented to provide additional information and
are not prepared in accordance with Canadian or U.S. GAAP. The data should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. The
measures are not necessarily indicative of operating profit or costs of operations as determined under
Canadian or U.S. GAAP. The total cash cost per ounce calculation is derived from amounts included in the
Operating Expense line on the Statement of Operations. As this line item is unchanged under US GAAP,
the total cash cost per ounce figure is similarly unchanged using US GAAP results of operations.
Data used in the calculation of total cash costs per ounce may not conform to other similarly titled
measures provided by other precious metals companies. Management uses the cash cost per ounce data
to assess profitability and cash flow from Crystallex’s operations and to compare it with other precious
metals producers. Total cash costs per ounce are derived from amounts included in the Statement of
Operations and include mine site operating costs such as mining, processing, administration, royalties and
production taxes but exclude amortization, reclamation, capital expenditures and exploration costs.
Total cash costs per ounce may be reconciled to our Statement of Operations as follows:
$,000’s
Operating Costs per Financial Statements
By-Product Credits
Reclamation and Closure Costs
Operating Costs for Per Ounce Calculation
Gold Ounces Sold
Total Cash Cost Per Ounce US$

2004
$18,038
----$18,038

2003
$11,783
----$11,783

49,478
$365

30,632
$385

Additional information relating to Crystallex, including the 2004 Annual Report, is available on SEDAR or
EDGAR.

19

